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TRANSLATORS’ EXPLANATORY NOTE 

The following document is a free translation of the Annual Report of CPD S.A. published on Marchl 19, 2015. 

In Poland statutory accounts must be prepared and presented in accordance with Polish legislation and in accordance with the 

accounting principles and practices generally used in Poland. The accompanying translated financial statements have not been 

reclassified or adjusted in any way to conform to accounting principles generally accepted in countries other than in Poland, but 

certain terminology current in Anglo-Saxon countries has been adopted to the extent practicable. 

In the event of any discrepancy in interpreting the terminology, the Polish version is binding.  
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I.  SUPERVISORY BOARD OF  CPD S.A. 

As at the day of December 31, 2014, the Supervisory Board of CPD S.A. included the following 

individuals: 

MS.  MARZENA BIELECKA –  PRESIDENT OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD 

(SUPERVISORY BOARD MEMBER MEETING THE REQUIREMENTS FOR AN 

INDEPENDENT MEMBER OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD) 

Ms. Marzena Bielecka was appointed to the Supervisory Board of the second term on 24 May 2012. 

The term of office of Ms. Marzena Bielecka expires on 24 May 2015. Ms. Marzena Bielecka has tertiary 

education: she graduated from the University of Warsaw, Department of Polish and Slavonic Studies 

(major: Yugoslavian Studies). Ms. Marzena Bielecka is also a graduate of the Advanced Management 

Program conducted by IESE Barcelona, Universidad de Navarra, in Spain. 

MR .  WIESŁAW OLEŚ –  VICE-PRESIDENT OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD 

Mr. Wiesław Oleś was appointed to the Supervisory Board of the second term on 24 May 2012. The 

term of office of Mr. Wiesław Oleś expires on 24 May 2015. Mr. Wiesław Oleś has tertiary legal 

education: he graduated from the Faculty of Law and Administration of the Jagiellonian University in 

Kraków (major: Law). Mr. Wiesław Oleś is also a licensed legal advisor. 

MR .  MIROSŁAW GRONICKI –  MEMBER OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD 

(SUPERVISORY BOARD MEMBER MEETING THE REQUIREMENTS FOR AN 

INDEPENDENT MEMBER OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD) 

Mr. Mirosław Gronicki was appointed to the Supervisory Board of the second term on 24 May 2012. 

The term of office of Mr. Mirosław Gronicki expires on 24 May 2015. Mr. Mirosław Gronicki has tertiary 

economic education: he graduated from the Faculty of Economics of Maritime Transport at the 

University of Gdansk in Gdansk (major: Economics of Maritime Transport). Mr. Mirosław Gronicki has 

also obtained a PhD degree in economics at the Faculty of Economics of Production at the University 

of Gdansk. 

MR .  ANDREW PEGGE –  MEMBER OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD 

Mr. Andrew Pegge was appointed to the Supervisory Board of the second term on 24 October 2013. 

The term of office of Mr. Andrew Pegge expires on 24 May 2015. Mr. Andrew Pegge has tertiary 

education: he is a graduate of the Sussex University (United Kingdom); he also holds a Diploma in 

Marketing from the Chartered Institute of Marketing (United Kingdom) and an MBA diploma in Finance 

from the City University Business School (United Kingdom). Mr. Andrew Pegge also holds the 

qualification of a Chartered Financial Analyst from the AIMR (Association for Investment Management 

Research, USA). 

MR .  WIESŁAW ROZŁUCKI –  MEMBER OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD 

(SUPERVISORY BOARD MEMBER MEETING THE REQUIREMENTS FOR AN 

INDEPENDENT MEMBER OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD) 

Mr. Wiesław Rozłucki was appointed to the Supervisory Board of the second term on 24 May 2012. 

The term of office of Mr. Wiesław Rozłucki expires on 24 May 2015. Mr. Wiesław Rozłucki graduated 

from the Warsaw School of Economics (Szkoła Główna Handlowa, formerly SGPiS) – Department of 

Foreign Trade (1970). In 1977 he obtained a PhD degree in Economic Geography. Between 1973 and 

1989, Mr. Rozłucki was a researcher at the Institute of Geography and Spatial Management of the 

Polish Academy of Sciences (PAN), and subsequently served as the Secretary of the Polish Committee 

of the International Geographical Union. In 1979–1980 he studied at the London School of Economics. 
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Since 1990 he was involved in the ownership transformation processes, first as an advisor to the 

Minister of Finance, then as the Director of the Capital Markets Development Department at the 

Ministry of Privatisation. Between 1991 and 1994, Mr. Rozłucki was a member of the Polish Securities 

Commission. From 1991 to 2006, he was President of the Management Board of the Warsaw Stock 

Exchange as well as Chairman of the Supervisory Board of the National Depository for Securities. In 

1990s, Mr. Rozłucki was a member of the Economic Development Council to President of the Republic 

of Poland. He was also a member of governing bodies of the World Federation of Exchanges (WFE) 

and the Federation of European Securities Exchanges (FESE). Currently, Mr. Rozłucki is a Supervisory 

Board member of public companies: GPW, Orange Polska, Bank BPH, TVN as well as Best Practices 

Committee established in 2001. He is also Chairman of the Programming Board of the Polish Institute 

of Directors and of Programming Board of Harvard Business Review Polska. He also provides individual 

consulting services, acting as a strategic adviser to Rothschild and Warburg Pincus. Since 2011, Mr. 

Rozłucki has served as the Chairman of the Economic Award Committee at the President of Poland. 

Mr. Wiesław Rozłucki was honoured with the Commander’s Cross of the Order of Polonia Restituta and 

the French distinction L’Ordre National du Mérite. 

In comparison to the status at the end of 2013, the composition of Supervisory Board of CPD S.A. has 

not changed. 
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II.  MANAGEMENT BOARD OF CPD S.A. 

As at the day of December 31, 2014, the Management Board of CPD S.A. included the following 

persons: 

MS.  ELŻBIETA WICZKOWSKA –  PRESIDENT OF THE MANAGEMENT BOARD 

Ms. Elżbieta Wiczkowska was appointed to the Management Board of the second term on 28 August 

2010. On 25 September 2013, the Supervisory Board of the Company appointed Ms. Elżbieta 

Wiczkowska President of the Management Board. The term of office of Ms. Elżbieta Wiczkowska 

expires on 21 July 2015. Ms. Elżbieta Wiczkowska has tertiary medical education. She completed 

medical studies at the Faculty of Medicine of the Medical Academy in Szczecin. Ms. Elżbieta 

Wiczkowska holds an MBA diploma from the University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign (USA). She 

also completed the Executive Advanced Management Program at IESE Barcelona, Universidad de 

Navarra, in Spain. Ms. Elżbieta Wiczkowska holds qualifications of the ACCA (The Association of 

Chartered Certified Accountants). 

MR .  COLIN KINGSNORTH –  MEMBER OF THE MANAGEMENT BOARD 

Mr. Colin Kingsnorth started his mandate as a member of the Management Board as of 24 October 

2013. The term of office of Mr. Colin Kingsnorth expires on 21 July 2015. Mr. Colin Kingsnorth holds 

tertiary economic education (BSc): he is a graduate of the University of East London UEL (United 

Kingdom). Mr. Colin Kingsnorth is a member of the (UK Society of Investment Professionals). 

MS.  IWONA MAKAREWICZ –  MEMBER OF THE MANAGEMENT BOARD 

Ms. Iwona Makarewicz was appointed as a Management Board member of the second term of office 

as of 26 September 2013. The term of office of Ms. Iwona Makarewicz expires on 21 July 2015. Ms. 

Iwona Makarewicz holds tertiary education: she graduated from the Warsaw School of Economics 

(Warsaw, Poland); she holds a post-graduate diploma in Property Appraisal and Management at 

Sheffield Hallam University (United Kingdom) and a post-graduate degree in property appraisal at the 

Warsaw University of Technology (Poland); she is a member of The Royal Institute of Chartered 

Surveyors (United Kingdom) and holds the title of a licensed estate agent. 

In comparison to the status at the end of 2013, the composition of the Management Board of CPD 

S.A. changed as follows: 

· On 22 December 2014, Mr Piotr Turchoński filed a resignation from the Management Board, 

effective as of 31 December 2014 r. Mr Piotr Turchoński failed to provide reasons for his 

resignation; 
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III.  INFORMATION ON THE PARTICIPATION OF WOMEN AND MEN IN  

THE MANAGEMENT BOARD AND THE SUPERVISORY BOARD  

In keeping with the Code of Best Practice for WSE-Listed Companies (Chapter II.1.2a), Celtic Property 

Developments S.A. presents information about the participation of women and men, respectively, in 

the Management Board and the Supervisory Board of the Company in the last two years. 

Supervisory Board CPD S.A. 
 date women men 

31 December 2013 1 4 

31 December 2014 1 4 

Board CPD S.A. 
  date women men 

31 December 2013 2 2 

31 December 2014 2 1 
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IV.  MANAGEMENT BOARD REPORT 

1. CPD S.A. –  HISTORY AND BUSINESS PROFILE 

CPD Group started its activities in Poland in 1999 from the foundation of Celtic Asset Management Sp. 

z o.o. In subsequent years, 1999-2005, the activities of the company focused on building and 

managing a real estate portfolio for external institutions in Poland, Czech Republic, Lithuania, 

Romania, Hungary and Germany. In 2005, Celtic Asset Management Sp. z o.o started development 

activity in cooperation with several funds managed by Laxey Partners. In 2007, the consolidation of 

the group under the name Celtic Property Developments SA (BVI) was performed and in 2008 the 

listing of the company Celtic Property Developments SA (BVI) began on a deregulated market 

(Freiverkehr) in Frankfurt. In the period from 2005 to 2010, the Company operated and managed 

projects mainly in Poland. In the same time, the Group has conducted and managed projects also in 

Montenegro, Hungary, Italy, Belgium, the United Kingdom, the Netherlands, Germany and Spain. 

International experience and practical knowledge of experts and project managers of Celtic Group 

contributed to the creation of a strong and stable capital group, which debuted on the Warsaw Stock 

Exchange on 23 December 2010. 17th of September the Company has changed the name for CPD S.A. 

Today, CPD S.A. is the holding company controlling a group of 37 subsidiaries, focusing on activities in 

the office and residential segments. Current Group’s plans focus on the residential development, 

mainly through the implementation of its leading project in the Warsaw’s district of Ursus. 
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2. CPD S.A. AS THE PARENT COMPANY IN THE GROUP STRUCTURE  

As of the report publication date, CPD S.A. (hereinafter referred to as ‘the Company’) directly or 

indirectly held shares and shareholdings in 37 subsidiaries. CPD S.A. directly controls 3 entities which 

are responsible for various areas of the Group’s operations (hereinafter referred to as ‘the CPD Group’, 

‘the Group’): 

· Buffy Holdings No1 Ltd (Cyprus) – this company holds shares in investment companies 

responsible for the Ursus investments; 

· Lakia Enterprises Ltd (Cyprus) – this company holds shares in investment companies 

responsible for investment projects in Poland and Hungary; 

· Celtic Investments Ltd (Cyprus) 

As the parent company, CPD S.A. co-ordinates and supervises activities of its subsidiaries, while being 

the centre where growth strategy decisions are taken. CPD S.A. undertakes initiatives focusing on 

optimisation of the Group’s operational costs, it develops and co-ordinates Group’s investment and 

marketing policies and activities. 

All companies in the Group are subject to consolidation under the full method. 
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The chart below presents the structure of the CPD Group as of December 31, 2014. 
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3. SHAREHOLDERS 

CONTROLLING STAKES  

CPD  S.A.  –  SHAREHOL DI NG STR UC TUR E  

 

According to the information held by the Company in the reporting period, the shareholders who 

hold directly or indirectly through subsidiaries at least 5% of the total number of votes at the 

Company’s General Meeting of Shareholders (the number of shares provided on the basis of 

shareholders’ notices pursuant to Article 69 of the Act on Public Offering or the data included in the 

prospectus) are: 

Shareholder 
Amount of 

shares 
Type of 
shares 

Amount of 
votes 

As % of 
total numer 

of shares 

As % of total 
numer of votes 

Coöperatieve Laxey Worldwide W.A 10 082 930 Na okaziciela 10 082 930 30.68 % 30.68 % 

Furseka Trading 5 137 222 Na okaziciela 5 137 222 15.63 % 15.63 % 

The Value Catalyst Fund plc 3 975 449 Na okaziciela 3 975 449 12.10 % 12.10 % 

QVT Fund LP 3 701 131 Na okaziciela 3 701 131 11.26 % 11.26 % 

LP Value Ltd 2 005 763 Na okaziciela 2 005 763 6.10 % 6.10 % 

LP Alternative Fund LP 2 003 981 Na okaziciela 2 003 981 6.10 % 6.10 % 

Pozostali 5 956 727 Na okaziciela 5 956 727 18.13 % 18.13 % 

 

The above shareholding structure was presented for the total number of shares, that is 32,863,203, 

including series B, C, D, E, and F shares accounting for 100% of votes at the General Meeting of the 

Company's Shareholders. 

On 5 August 2014, resolution was adopted to issue series A bonds convertible to series G shares in 

the Company, conditionally increase the Company's share capital, deny the existing shareholders 

entirely their right of subscription for series G shares, amend the Company's Articles, dematerialise 

series G shares, and apply for admission and floating of series G shares on a stock exchange. 

Redemption date of tranche 1 bonds is 26 September 2017. Issue of tranche 1 bonds was conducted 

as a non-public issue. Terms of issue of series B bonds is presented in detail in section 18. 

Coöperatieve 

Laxey Worldwide 

W.A

31%
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16%
The Value 

Catalyst Fund plc
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QVT Fund LP
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LP Value Ltd

6%

LP Alternative 

Fund LP

6%

Pozostali

18%
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SHAREHOLDERS WITH SPECIAL RIGHTS 

All shares issued by the Company to date are ordinary bearer shares. The Company Articles do not 

grant any specific rights to shares in the Company, including preferential voting rights or the right to 

appoint members of the Company’s governing bodies. The Company’s shareholders do not own 

shares bearing special controlling rights. 

RESTRICTIONS ON VOTING RIGHTS  

In accordance with Article 4(5) of the Company’s Articles, neither pledgee nor user shall have the 

right to exercise voting right from shares which were pledged or given for use. The Company, in 

accordance with applicable laws, may not exercise voting rights from own shares. 

RESTRICTIONS REGARDING TRANSFER OF OWNERSHIP RIGHTS 

All hitherto issued B, C, D and F series shares of CPD S.A. are the object of free trade and shall not 

be subject to any restrictions, except those arising under the Company Articles, Code of Commercial 

Companies, Act on Trading in Financial Instruments, Act on Public Offering, as well as other relevant 

provisions of the law. E series shares issued in connection with acquisition of B series subscription 

warrants by authorised persons (that is by the Members of the Management Board holding functions 

in the Management Board as at 8 May 2013 and holding B series subscription warrants), are 

prohibited from disposing same for the period of 18 months from the moment of their admission to 

trade, i.e. from 5 July 2013 under agreements concluded simultaneously with the acquisition of 

shares. 

In accordance with Article 4(6) of the Company Articles, bearer shares shall not be subject to 

conversion to registered shares. Conversion of registered shares into bearer shares shall be carried 

out at the request of the Shareholder by means of a resolution of the Management Board, which 

should be adopted within seven days from the date of submission of a written request to the 

Management Board to convert the shares. The request should indicate the number of shares 

covered by the request for conversion, together with an indication of their numbers. In the case of 

conversion of registered shares into bearer shares, the Management Board places on the agenda of 

the forthcoming General Meeting a point regarding the amendment of the Articles in respect of the 

number of registered shares. 

4. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

·  RULES OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

CPD S.A. is regulated by its corporate regulations such as the Company Articles, General Meeting 

Rules, Supervisory Board Rules and Management Board Rules. All those documents are available on 

the Company website at: www.cpdsa.pl. 

In 2014 the Company applied corporate governance principles included in the document entitled 

Code of Best Practice for WSE-Listed Companies, available (in Polish) at http://corp-

gov.gpw.pl/assets/library/polish/regulacje/dobre_praktyki_16_11_2012.pdf. This text is an appendix 

to the resolution of the WSE Council No. 19/1307/2012 of 21 November 2012. 

·  DEROGATIONS FROM CORPORATE GOVERNANCE RULES  

The Company does not apply the following rules mentioned in the Code of Best Practice for WSE 

Listed Companies: 
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o Rule II.1. 9a) regarding the publishing on the company website a record of the General 

Meeting in audio or video format 

Transparency of information policy with regard to General Meetings is secured by performing 

by the Company of all the obligations, as provided for by the Regulation of the Minister of 

Finance on the current and periodic information reported by issuers of securities. Pursuant to 

the above mentioned regulation, the Company publishes information about the time and 

place of General Meetings, its agenda and draft resolutions which allows to each shareholder 

or other person concerned, participation in the General Meeting. After the end of the 

General Meeting, the Company immediately forwards to the public content of resolutions 

taken by the General Meeting and other relevant information about the General Meeting. In 

the assessment of the Management Board, the Company uses its reasonable diligence and 

regulations applied are sufficient to ensure the transparency and effectivness of Company's 

information policy in the field of recording the proceedings of the General Meeting with 

existing, it means traditional, method of registration of the General Meeting. Additionally, 

each shareholder pursuant the relevant provisions of the Code of Commercial Companies, 

has the possibility to review at any time the book of protocols of General Meeting 

o Rule I.12 regarding that a company should enable its shareholders to exercise the voting 

right during a General Meeting either in person or through a plenipotentiary, outside the 

venue of the General Meeting, using electronic communication means and Rule IV. 10 

regarding that a company should enable its shareholders to participate in a General Meeting 

using electronic communication means through: 1) real-life broadcast of General Meetings 

and 2) real-time bilateral communication where shareholders may take the floor during a 

General Meeting from a location other than the General Meeting.  

The fact of non-transmission of the deliberations of the General Meeting and of the 

possibility of two-way communication in real time during the deliberations of the General 

Meeting, does not result solely from a policy adopted by the Company’s Management Board 

but is a consequence of the adjustment to the regulations being in force in the Company 

both in terms of the Company Articles and General Meeting by-laws. None of these 

documents does not provide for the solutions provided in Rules no I.12 and IV.10 of Code of 

Best Practice. The documents governing the way in which the General Meeting is conducted 

are available to the public on the Company's website which causes that the rules in carrying 

out the General Meetings are clear and available to all shareholders. In addition, the 

Company on the occasion of convening of the General Meeting-in the notice of convening 

the General Meeting-clearly shows that the Company Articles or General Meeting by-laws do 

not provide for the possibility of attending or speaking at the General Meeting using 

electronic means of communication – which in some kind is the information about the 

incidental non-application of Code of Best Practice. 

Taking into account the above, it should be considered that Company’s shareholders had 

sufficient grounds to conclude that the Company does not currently apply solutions to 

broadcast proceedings of General Meetings or to allow the participation of shareholders in 

General Meetings by using the means of communication at a distance. 

In addition, in the assessment of the Company’s Management Board, the current course of 

General Meetings does not indicate in any way the need to make such transmission, or 

communications. The Company is not able to provide support for the General Meeting with 

guarantee of technical safety and legal safety for two-way communication in real time, and 

in particular the adequacy of the verification of the legitimacy of the shareholder. 
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The intention of the Company is the continuous compliance with all principles of corporate 

governance set out in the Code of Best Practice for WSE Listed Companies. The Company will 

undertake all efforts within its capacities for the implementation of all the governance rules arising 

from the Code of Best Practice for WSE Listed Companies as soon as possible.  

·   INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS  

The Management Board of the Company is responsible for the Company’s system of internal control, 

and for its effectiveness in the process of the preparation of financial statements and periodic 

reports prepared and published in accordance with the rules laid down in Regulation of 19 February 

2009 regarding ongoing and periodic information to be disclosed by issuers of securities. 

In order to ensure an effective internal control system for the Company's financial reporting, it must 

ensure adequacy and accuracy of the financial information contained in financial statements and 

periodic reports. An effective system of internal control and risk management in the process of 

financial reporting was built in the Company through adequately determined scope of financial 

reporting as well as through definition of the entire process, including division of responsibilities and 

work organisation. The Management Board of the Company also regularly reviews the Company’s 

performance using the applicable financial reporting. 

The Company applies the principle of independent review of published financial reporting as required 

by the law. Its published semi-annual and annual financial statements, financial reports as well as 

underlying financial data are, respectively, reviewed (in the case of semi-annual statements) or 

audited (in the case of annual statements) by the auditor appointed by the Company. 

Moreover, in accordance with the principles of corporate governance adopted by the Management 

Board and approved by the General Meeting of Shareholders, the Company has an Audit Committee. 

Pursuant to §11.5 of the Company’s Articles, when there is a five-member Supervisory Board, all 

members of the Supervisory Board are members of the Audit Committee. 

In order to mitigate the Company’s exposure to market risks further, a correct assessment of the 

potential and ongoing development projects is needed, based on investment models and decision-

making procedures developed by the Company. In order to reduce the risk associated with 

development projects and rental agreements, the Company obtains from guarantees or insurance 

policies sub-contractors and tenants, covering the most common risks associated with development 

projects or securing the payment of rents. 

The risk management procedure is subject to periodical updates by the Company’s Management 

Board with participation of Company’s key executives and external advisors. 

·  MANAGEMENT BODIES ,  SUPERVISORY BODIES ,  AND AUDIT COMMITTEE  

The Management Board operates under the provisions of the Polish Code of Commercial Companies 

and Partnerships, provisions of the Company’s Articles and publicly available Management Board 

Rules, approved by a resolution of the Supervisory Board, and in accordance with the Code of Best 

Practice for WSE-Listed Companies. 

The Supervisory Board operates under the provisions of the Polish Code of Commercial Companies 

and Partnerships, provisions of the Company’s Articles and publicly available Supervisory Board Rules 

which define its organisation and manner of operation, and in accordance with the Code of Best 

Practice for WSE-Listed Companies. The Supervisory Board is a collective body consisting of 5 (five) 

to 7 (seven) members. The number of Supervisory Board members is determined by the General 

Meeting of Shareholders, in accordance with the preceding sentence. 

The Supervisory Board is a permanent body supervising the Company in all areas of its operations. 

The Supervisory Board takes decisions or delivers opinions on matters reserved to its competence in 
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accordance with the provisions of the Company’s Articles and under the procedure provided for by 

the Company’s Articles or relevant provisions of law. The Supervisory Board complied with the 

requirement of having at least two independent members, as defined in the criteria of independence 

laid down in the Company’s Articles. Remuneration of the members of the Supervisory Board, 

defined in a transparent manner, did not represent a significant cost item for the Company that 

might have affected its financial performance. The amount of remuneration approved through a 

General Meeting resolution has been disclosed in point 21 of this report REMUNERATION OF THE 

MANAGEMENT BOARD AND THE SUPERVISORY BOARD. 

An Audit Committee was established within the Supervisory Board. The Audit Committee comprises 

three to five members, including at least one independent member of the Supervisory Board who 

meets the criteria of independence and holds qualifications in the field of accounting or financial 

auditing. Currently, all members of the Supervisory Board are also members of the Audit Committee. 

MANAGEMENT BOARD –  APPOINTMENT ,  DISMISSAL ,  POWERS 

Members of the Management Board are appointed and dismissed by the Supervisory Board. The 

current term of office of the Management Board has been running from 21 July 2010 (i.e. from the 

date of the General Meeting for 2009 and the appointment of the Management Board of the second 

term) and will end on 21 July 2015. The term of office of the current Management Board is common 

for its members and lasts 5 years (§13.1 of the Company’s Articles). A member may be revoked or 

suspended only for valid reasons. Article 368.4 of the Polish Code of Commercial Companies and 

Partnerships also provides that the General Meeting may revoke or suspend a Management Board 

member. 

The competence to conduct the Company’s business is defined in the Management Board Rules, 

approved by a resolution of the Supervisory Board. The Management Board is the managing and 

executive body of the Company and, as such, it runs the Company’s business and oversees its 

operations, manages the Company’s business and represents the Company outside. In particular, 

the rights and obligations of the Management Board include: 

· fixing the date and the agenda of General Meetings and the convening of General 

Meetings; 

· submitting proposals to the General Meeting, together with an opinion of the 

Supervisory Board, in matters covered by the agenda of the Meetings; 

· submitting to the Supervisory Board financial statements and the Management Board’s 

written report on its activities during the accounting period and a proposal on the 

distribution of profit or losses, and those documents are to be reviewed at the Annual 

General Meeting; 

· adopting the Company’s Organizational Rules and other internal acts governing the 

work of the Company’s business; 

· developing and adopting the Company’s annual, multi-annual and strategic plans; 

· appointing proxies and granting the power of attorney; 

· requesting the Supervisory Board to convene its meetings; 

· requesting the Supervisory Board to approve the Management Board Rules, the 

Company’s Organizational Rules, annual budgets and Company’s growth plans. 

Members of the Management Board are obliged to participate in the General Meeting in a 

composition which enables them to provide substantive answers to questions asked in the course of 

the General Meeting. 
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·  AMENDMENTS TO COMPANY ARTICLES  

The Polish Code of Commercial Companies and Partnerships contains detailed regulations of 

amendments in articles of a joint-stock company in Chapters 4, 5 and 6 of its section on joint-stock 

companies (Article 430 and following of the Code). Any amendment of the Articles must be made 

through a decision taken by the General. 

·  GENERAL MEETING  

The General Meeting is the highest governing body of the Company. The General Meeting acts in 

accordance with the rules set out in the Polish Code of Commercial Companies and Partnerships, the 

Company’s Articles and General Meeting Rules. The Articles of Association and the General Meeting 

Rules are available from the Company’s website: www.cpdsa.pl. General meetings may be ordinary 

(annual) or extraordinary. The General Meeting is convened by authorised authorities or individuals 

whose entitlement is defined in the law or the Articles. The General Meeting is held at a place and 

time enabling participation of the broadest circle of shareholders possible. The right of participation 

in the General Meeting is held by shareholders who hold registered shares and temporary 

certificates, as well as lienors and users who are entitled to vote if they were registered in the share 

register at least one week before the date of the General Meeting. The principal powers of the 

General Meeting include decisions on issuance of shares with pre-emptive rights, on determination 

of record date and the day of dividend payment, appointment and dismissal of Supervisory Board 

members, definition of Supervisory Board members’ remuneration as well as decisions on other 

matters defined in the Polish Code of Commercial Companies and Partnerships. 

5. STRATEGY AND POLICY REGARDING FURTHER DEVELOPMENT OF 

THE GROUP 

In the coming years, the Group is going to implement a strategy aimed at building the value of the 

Group’s assets successively and consistently through maximisation of proceeds from rents and 

comprehensive implementation of the Ursus project. As part of implementing strategic assumptions, 

the Company’s actions will primarily focus on launching the Ursus project. In order to hasten the 

growth in the value of the Company’s assets, the Company intends to divide the project in Ursus into 

smaller projects and implement them in cooperation with experienced housing developers. 

Simultaneous implementation of several smaller developer undertakings as part of the Ursus project 

will enable the shortening of the entire project completion time, which will at the same time 

translate into faster growth in the value of other Group’s assets in that region, and permit the 

achievement of the synergy effect and optimisation of promotion, sales and marketing costs related 

to those undertakings.  

Regardless of the strategic assumptions adopted for the incoming years, the Company does not 

exclude that in the future it will be interested in sale of subsidiaries, controlling larger areas of 

investment to other potential developers or acquisitions of other entities of the development sector. 

Potential targets of acquisitions will be primarily companies holding lands in interesting locations 

and/or executing projects matching the Group’s image.  

The overall strategy, as defined above, executed in very demanding market conditions, determined 

by the overall economic slowdown, the decrease in demand for real estate and more difficult access 

to the capital, defines the guidelines for each of the areas of Group’s activity during next few years 

and aims at increasing the Shareholders’ assets and optimizing their return on investment. 
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6. CPD GROUP ACTIVITIES AND IMPORTANT EVENTS DURING THE 

REPORTING PERIOD 

·  THE COMPANY ’S REVENUES ,  MARKETS,  CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS 

The company is one operating segment. In 2014, the largest item in the amount of revenue at PLN 

18 million represented interest income from loans to other entities of the Group. Data on loans 

granted to related entities are presented in Note 4. Long-term receivables to the Financial 

Statements of the Company. The company also reached sales of services in the amount of PLN 0.62 

million, of which 100% came from sales of services in the domestic market. 

·  EVENTS AFFECTING THE COMPANY ’S ACTIVITIES AND ITS FINANCIAL  

PERFORMANCE  

Ø  INCREASE  VALUE  OF  INVESTMENT  IN  SUBSIDIARY  COMPANIES 

As at 31 December 2014. Company assessed the recoverability of loans granted to subsidiaries 

and based on the analysis undertaken decided to terminate the impairment loss in the amount 

of PLN 118 million compared to 31.12.2013. The decision to terminate the write-down was a 

consequence of the positive changes in net assets of subsidiaries, which provides loans and 

CPD associated primarily with the increase in fair value of investment property owned by those 

companies. This was a consequence of the enactment in July 2014. Local zoning plan in Ursus 

which significantly influence the increase in net assets of subsidiaries, and thus there was a 

prerequisite for this to reverse some of the previous write-downs. Information on loans granted 

to related entities is presented in Note 4. 

In addition, a significant effect on the increase in value of real estate in Ursus was transferred 

in return, in December 2014, to a company under the name of 4/113 Gaston Investments Sp. Z 

oo sp. k. The right of perpetual usufruct, which is a plot number 113 in conjunction with the 

ownership of buildings, structures and facilities located on the property, which are separate 

items of property. 

These write-offs are presented in Notes 3.3, 4 and 5 to the financial statements of the 

Company.  

Ø  VOTI NG OF MAS TER PLAN FOR URS US  

Work on the master plan since the enactment of the study of conditions and directions of 

spatial m. St. Warsaw, as amended, and adoption of a resolution on the accession to the 

preparation of local development plan in the area of Orłów Piastowskich Street until its 

enactment lasted almost eight years. 

Finally, the culmination of these years was put to the vote on 3 July 2014. City Council session 

Warsaw draft local development plan in the area of  Orłów Piastowskich Street - part I. 

City Council Warsaw, following a vote passed a resolution adopting the local development plan 

in the area of Orłów Piastowskich Street - part I. 

This document allows to start area revitalization of degraded urban and organize an area of 

about 220 hectares, which represents 25% of the whole district Ursus. Currently, it is the area 

with the greatest potential investment in the m. St. Warszawa covered uniform development 

plan with excellent modern infrastructure solutions in the field of public transport: rail and road, 

located only 9 km from the city center and 5 minutes drive from the Frederic Chopin Airport. 
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The final stage of work on the development plan in the area of  Orłów Piastowskich Street - 

part I was his legitimacy, and therefore become a local law, which took place 30 days after 

notice by the authority empowered in the Official Journal of the Mazowieckie Province, the date 

of August 15, 2014 r. 

Ø  VALI DATI ON OF A  MAS T ER PLA N I N UR SUS  

August 15, 2014, the last stage completed formal validation of Local Development Plan (LDP) 

for Orłów Piastowskich Street - Part I. 

The resolution, together with all documentation has been forwarded to the Governor 

Mazowiecki, who as part of his powers, on 5 August 2014 in the pages of the Official Journal of 

the Mazovian Province published Settlement Boards. 

Therefore, the Development Plan for the area of  Orłów Piastowskich Street - Part I, in the 

version corrected by the Governor Mazovian, shall enter into force after 30 days from the date 

of its publication in the Official Journal of the Region, the day of August 15, 2014 year. 

In accordance with the provisions of the local plan for the area just CPD Group, as the largest 

investor can realize investments floor area of about 750 thousand square meters with about 

652 thousand square meters can be used for housing, and 58 thousand for building commercial 

service and 40 thousand m² under public building. The Company intends to modify the above 

assumptions in order to optimize and increase the attractiveness of building locations for 

potential residents and thus achieve the maximum design value for its shareholders. 

CPD Capital Group intends to develop a multi-functional urban area with buildings covering 

mainly residential apartments with an area of 40 - 80 m². Dwellings built under the project will 

be designed primarily for young working people or families looking for their first home. Housing 

price will be adjusted to market conditions and purchasing power of potential buyers. Easy and 

convenient access to the city center is to be the particular advantage of the project for the 

target audience. Easy access by public transport is an additional advantage of the area: 

•  access by train - the location of the project between stations Warsaw Ursus and Warsaw 

Ursus North, Doves and Bear lying on the two main railway routes, allows access to the 

center in approx. 14 minutes; 

•  access by car / bus - the immediate vicinity of the project, bus lines and twelve western 

bypass built as Warsaw connected through the streets Nowomory and 4 June 1989. 

Guarantees closeness important hubs. 

Current market trends show strong demand for housing market for small areas and moderately 

priced. Ursus project was intended to make their products perfectly fit the needs of the market, 

the Company expects strong demand for housing supplied. In addition, the Company expects a 

big interest in the project among the target audience because of the competitive advantage 

resulting from the location and design flexibility, innovative Smart City and planned attractive 

prices. 

These facts indicate that the adoption of the plan and the investments made in infrastructure 

have opened a new chapter in the history of the Ursus district. Development of such a large 

area and putting her back is not only the people of the revitalization process. It's a great start 

of the investment process, creating hundreds of new jobs, new residents settle and realize 

many investments are important from the point of view of the district, even in the educational 

layer. 
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It is also the implementation of a new model of cooperation between the city, district and 

investors. In the process of adopting the Group CPD plan to donate to the city of more than 

14,39 hectares of land allocated in the plan for public investment. This action also freed from 

the budget of the local government a serious expense associated with the redemption of the 

land, the money will be spent on investments district in the area. 

Ø  NOTA RIAL D EEDS  

As the culmination of nearly four years of ongoing discussions with the Capital City of Warsaw 

and the State Treasury, 3 July 2014., Subsidiaries of the Issuer: Challenge Eighteen limited 

liability company, 2/124 Gaston Investments Limited Liability Company LLP, 3 / 93 Gaston 

Investments Limited Liability Company sp.k. 5/92 Gaston Investments Limited Liability Company 

LLP, 6/150 Gaston Investments Limited Liability Company LLP, 8/126 Gaston Investments 

limited liability company sp.k., 9/151 Gaston Investments Limited Liability Company LLP, 10/165 

Gaston Investments Limited Liability Company LLP, 11/162 Gaston Investments Limited Liability 

Company LLP, 12/132 Gaston Investments Limited Liability Company LLP, 13/155 Gaston 

Investments Limited Liability Company LLP, 15/167 Gaston Investments Limited Liability 

Company LLP, 18 Gaston Investments Limited Liability Company LLP and the city of Warsaw, 

and 

Eighteen Challenge a limited liability company and the Treasury, 

entered into a contract in the form of notarial acts, including the transfer of perpetual usufruct 

of land plots for the city of Warsaw and the Treasury areas in the draft local development plan 

in the area of area Orłów Piastowskich Street - Part I, are intended for public spaces. 

The subsidiaries have entered into the following agreements: 

•  preliminary sales agreement signed on 3 July 2014. In the form of a notarial deed between 

the company 18 Gaston Investments Limited Liability Company LLP and the Capital City of 

Warsaw for the sale of the Subsidiary, the right of perpetual usufruct of immovable property 

with the following numbers KW WA1M / 00228713 ninths, WA1M / 00283412/2, WA1M / 

00338241 thirds, WA1M / 00359139 eighths, WA1M / 00453511 ninths, WA5M / 00444063 

fifths, WA5M / 00444810 sevenths, WA5M / 00460144 fifths, located in Warsaw's Ursus 

district. The total book value of the right of perpetual usufruct of immovable property in the 

books of the companies is 5 687 012.99 Pln, respectively. The sale price for the amount of 1 

gold for the property. 
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•  donation agreement signed 3 July 2014. In the form of a notarial deed between Challange 

Eighteen companies with limited liability, 2/124 Gaston Investments Limited Liability Company 

LLP, 3/93 Gaston Investments Limited Liability Company LLP, 5/92 Gaston Investments 

Limited Liability Company LLP, 6/150 Gaston Investments Limited Liability Company LLP, 

8/126 Gaston Investments Limited Liability Company LLP, 9/151 Gaston Investments Limited 

Company Liability Company LLP, 10/165 Gaston Investments Limited Liability Company LLP, 

11/162 Gaston Investments Limited Liability Company LLP, 12/132 Gaston Investments 

Limited Liability Company LLP, 13 / 155 Gaston Investments Limited Liability Company LLP, 

15/167 Gaston Investments Limited Liability Company LLP and the capital city of Warsaw 

applicable gratuitous transfer of the right of perpetual usufruct of immovable property 

numbers WA5M KW / 00444808/0, WA5M / 00473247/1, WA5M / 00470813 ninths, WA5M / 

00470814 sixths, WA1M / 00283410 eighths, WA1M / 00283123 ninths, WA1M / 00283128 

quarters, WA1M / 00338197 ninths, WA1M / 00454073 thirds, WA1M / 00283125 thirds, 

WA1M / 00060388 fifths, WA1M / 00359150/1 WA5M / 00443952 sevenths, WA1M / 

00060218 thirds, WA1M / 00060294 ninths, WA5M / 00444064/2, WA5M / 00444065 ninths, 

WA1M / 00233103 eighths, WA1M / 00377082 fifths, WA1M / 00432820 fifths, WA5M / 

00443951/0, WA5M / 00444066 sixths, located in Warsaw Ursus district. The total book value 

of the right of perpetual usufruct of immovable property in the books is 23 462 396.59 Pln, 

respectively. 

•  Contract termination of perpetual usufruct signed 3 July 2014. In the form of a notarial deed 

between the company Challange Eighteen limited liability company and the Treasury, provide 

a solution to the perpetual usufruct contract numbers WA1M KW / 00228714 sixths and 

WA5M / 00444807 thirds, located in Warsaw's Ursus district. The total book value of real 

estate in the books is 12 758 402 Pln, respectively. 

Free to get these areas through the city, is the next step in the Ursus district approximates a 

comprehensive revitalization of degraded brownfield sites of the former Industrial Plant Ursus. 

This enhances synchronized and balanced launch of a multifunctional urban investment in the 

above areas, and at the same time is extremely important impulse for the economic 

development of the whole district. 

CPD Group, as the largest investor in the area wants in a sublime way to mark the start of the 

investment in the area covered by the newly adopted plan, which is part of a new chapter of 

cooperation between the government and the developer in the field of rural development in 

public buildings - roads, educational, cultural, including is organizing a museum dedicated to the 

history of Ursus, thereby stressing the importance it was to enact the plan of development of 

these areas not only for the residents of the district, but the whole of Warsaw. The adoption of 

the local plan is the culmination of all the other public investments in this area: among others, 

Warsaw Western Bypass, hub Salome and the newly built street thoroughfares. June 4, 1989. 

And st. Nowomory the railway tracts. 

Ø  AGREEMENT S IG NED B Y CP D A ND S UBS IDIA RI ES  –  BEG I NNI NG OF  I NVESTM ENT  I N 

URS US  

Start of housing investment in Ursus took place on September 10, 2014 year. That day was 

signed an investment agreement on a joint venture with The Group of Unibep, in terms of 

realization of complex buildings with services and associated infrastructure in Warsaw Ursus 

district. 

The agreement was made between: 
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CPD SA in Warsaw, Challenge Eighteen limited liability company in Warsaw, 1/95 Gaston 

Investments limited liability limited partnership with its registered office in Warsaw, Lakia 

Enterprise Ltd in Nicosia (Cyprus), 

and 

Unibep SA from Bielsko Podlaski, Unidevelopment SA from Warsaw. 

The Agreement provides for a joint project be completed on the part of the property belonging 

to the Capital Group CPD ie. The company 1/95 Gaston Investments Sp. Z oo limited partnership 

in Warsaw. The property consists of the above plot no 95, no rev. Reg. No. 2-09-09, with an 

area of 3.6811 ha and is located at ul. Traktorzystów in Warsaw (Warsaw district - Ursus). 

On the Property will be implemented in two phases, the construction of multi-family building 

complex services with accompanying infrastructure, with a projected area of approx. 20,000 m2 

of usable space, which will be the general contractor company Unibep SA and the company 

Unidevelopment SA will be provided services investor representation on the Undertaking. The 

agreement also includes operations to conduct marketing activities related to the sale of 

apartments in the context of projects, and then on the total sales of usable space projects and 

profit distribution rules of the Operation. 

Participation Group companies in the implementation of projects CPD is, among others, to: 

a) the implementation of the projects on the Property belonging to the Company's limited 

partnership, 

b) the provision by Gaston Investments Sp. z oo services, financial and operational control over 

the Undertaking and supervision Unibep SA as the general contractor. 

The agreement was conditional and entered into force after agreement by the parties to all the 

Annexes to the Agreement and, as regards the accession Unidevelopment SA a limited 

partnership company, after obtaining the consent of the President of the Office of Competition 

and Consumer Protection for the concentration of entrepreneurs.  

Ø  APROOVAL OF UOKI K  

On February 2015 issued by the President of the Office of Competition and Consumer Protection 

after antitrust proceedings initiated upon Challange Eighteen sp. with its registered office in 

Warsaw (the "Subsidiary"), Smart City sp. with its registered office in Warsaw and 

Unidevelopment SA with its registered office in Warsaw, the President of the Office of 

Competition and Consumer Protection approved for concentration, involving the establishment of 

a joint venture Smart City sp. in the organization of a limited partnership with its registered 

office in Warsaw by the Subsidiary, Smart City sp. with its registered office in Warsaw and 

Unidevelopment SA with its registered office in Warsaw. 

In this way, fulfilled the condition precedent of the Investment Agreement of September 10 

2014 for accession Unidevelopment SA Smart City company o.o limited partnership with its 

registered office in Warsaw. 

Ø  ACCESSION  UNIDEVEL OP MENT SA  DO  LIMITED PARTNERS HIP S  

On 9 March 2015, the Memorandum of Association of Smart City w organizacji sp. z o.o. sp.k. 

was annexed, and under this annex Unidevelopment S.A. joined the Limited Partnership as a 

Limited Partner, made the first portion of their contribution, and committed to make the 

remaining portion of financial contribution until the date stipulated in the investment agreement 

of 10 September 2014.   

 



CPD S.A. 
ANNUAL REPORT FOR THE YEAR 2014 

21 

 

Ø INCREASE  VALUE  OF  REAL  ESTATE  AT  THE  END  OF  THE  YEAR  2014 

According to the valuations made by Savills sp. at the end of 2014. total fair value of the 

property held by the subsidiaries of CPD S.A. and including investment properties and 

inventories amounted to PLN 587.9 million and was higher by PLN 137.3 million from the value 

reported at the end of 2013. The increase in value of the property has been recognized as a 

result of valuation of investment properties, which at the end of 2014. was positive and 

amounted to PLN 114.8 million. To increase the value of the property portfolio owned by 

subsidiaries of CPD S.A. was mainly due to an increase in the value of the investment project in 

Ursus. It should be noted that the reduction in the real estate portfolio of parcel traffic as a 

result of gratuitous transfer of public land for m st. Warsaw, has not affected the value of the 

property portfolio and the opposite. The transfer routes facilitated the adoption by councilors m 

st. Warsaw decision to adopt a local development plan in the area of the former factories ZPC 

Ursus and thereby increase the value of investing the whole area. 

In addition, a significant effect on the increase in value of real estate in Ursus had in return for 

the transfer of the company 4/113 Gaston Investments Sp. Z oo sp. k. The right of perpetual 

usufruct, which is a plot number 113 in conjunction with the ownership of buildings, structures 

and facilities located on the property, which are separate items of property ,. 

Additional factors that positively affected the value of the property portfolio owned by 

subsidiaries of CPD S.A. were increases in the value of buildings Iris, Solar and Aquarius 

resulting from rising rental income in view of the increasing commercialization of space and the 

expected by analysts improvement on the commercial real estate rental market in Warsaw. 

Ø  COMMERCIALIZATION  IRIS  STREET  BUILDING.  CYBERNETYKI  9,  IN  

WARSAW 

Iris is a six-storey building office building with a total leasable area of approx. 14,3 thous. m2 

with 233 parking places and is the final stage of the project office and residential located at the 

intersection of Cybernetics and Progress in Warsaw. At the date of this report are still under 

active efforts to commercialize 100% of the building. At the date of this report the building is 

88.5% leased. Issues are currently being finalized documentation to make the conversion of the 

construction loan udzieonego by BZ WBK in the investment credit granted by the bank. 

Ø  ADMINISTRATIVE  COSTS  DECLINE 

Administrative expenses of the Company in 2014 amounted to € 2.2 million PLN and was PLN 

0.5 million lower than last year. The decrease in administrative expenses as compared to 2013 

was due to the consistently implemented cost optimization strategy which has led to tangible 

results in the reduction of the Company's costs for the use of advisory services (down costs by 

PLN 0.2 million) and a decrease in payroll costs (PLN 0.1m ) 

Ø  CHANG ES IN THE COMP OSITION OF THE COMPA NY ’S MANAGEMENT BOARD  

In 2013 there were personal changes in the composition of the Company’s Management Board, 

as described in detail in point II. MANAGEMENT BOARD of this report. As a result of those 

changes the Management Board of the Company consists of the following members as of the 

publication of this report: 

- Ms. Elżbieta Wiczkowska – President of the Management Board, 

- Mr. Colin Kingsnorth – Member of the Management Board, 

- Ms. Iwona Makarewicz – Member of the Management Board, 
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7. ASSESSMENT OF FEASIBILITY OF THE COMPANY’S  INVESTMENT 

PLANS 

The Company does not conduct its own development projects. Previous projects were carried out by 

the Group’s subsidiaries and were financed by using their own resources as well as bank loans. In 

future, the Group intends to implement projects through subsidiaries or co-controlled companies, 

and to finance such construction projects and investments (targeted loans) through funds raised 

directly by those companies or through CPD S.A. 

8. FACTORS AND UNUSUAL EVENTS AFFECTING THE COMPANY’S 
FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 

In the Management Board’s view, 2014 saw no unusual events which would have had an effect on 

the Company’s performance. 

9. FACTORS OF IMPORTANCE FOR THE COMPANY’S FURTHER 

GROWTH 

Factors which might directly or indirectly affect the Company’s and the Group’s future operations 

include: 

· The macroeconomic situation on the Polish market as it shapes the demand for real estate 

and the purchasing power of customers; 

· The situation on financial markets, and, in particular, availability of sources of funding and 

the cost of capital raised; 

· Banks’ lending policies and availability of mortgage loans; 

· The government’s policy to support the construction sector; 

· Administrative decisions regarding lands held by subsidiaries. 

 

10. OVERVIEW OF ESSENTIAL ECONOMIC AND FINANCIAL DATA 

   12 months ended Change 

   31.12.2014  31.12.2013 2014/2013 

  (PLN ths.) (PLN ths.) (%) 

Revenue 621 999 -37,8% 

Cost of sales - - - 

Gross profit 621 999 -37,8% 

Administrative expenses -2 195 -2 647 -17,1% 

Marketing costs -155 -152 2,0% 

Gain (loss) on sale of subsidiaries 9 0 - 

Impairment of investments in subsidiaries 90 966 -67 590 -234,6% 

Interest income on loans 18 047 21 144 -14,6% 

Other operating income 1 61 -98,4% 

Other operating expenses -133 -1 495 -91,1% 

Profit/(loss) from operations 107 161 -49 680 -315,7% 

Finance income 9 774 1 697 476,1% 

Finance costs -1 278 -284 349,9% 

Profit/(loss) before tax 115 656 -48 267 -339,6% 

Income tax - - - 
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PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 115 656 -48 267 -339,6% 

        

Earnings per share (PLN) 3,37 -1,42 -337,5% 

Diluted earnings per share (PLN) 2,96 -1,42 -308,5% 

 

In 2014, the Company CPD SA Consistently implemented through the past few years, the strategy to 

the company as a whole project kontrulujących Ursus improved net profit compared with the 

previous year by PLN 163.9 million, closing the year with a net profit in the amount of PLN 115.7 

million. 

The factor that had the biggest impact on the final amount of net profit in 2014 was the change in 

the allowance for impairment of investments in subsidiaries in the amount of PLN 91.0 million. 

Company analyzed the impairment of loans granted to subsidiaries. In connection with the adoption 

in July 2014. Ursus development plan has been a significant increase in net assets of subsidiaries as 

a result of the reclassification of land owned by the company. Thus, there was a prerequisite for this 

to resolve some of the previous write-downs. Details of the write-offs are presented in Notes 3.3 and 

4 of the financial statements of the Company. 

The improvement of the net result contributed to a significant increase in financial income in the 

amount of PLN 8.1 million, which was the result of the revenue recognition finasowych from the 

valuation of the embedded derivative associated with the issuance of convertible bonds denominated 

in EUR. 

Consistently cost optimization strategy implemented in 2014 also had a significant, positive impact 

on net profit. Mainly due to the reduction of administrative costs by PLN 0.5 million, due to reduced 

demand for consulting services company (a decrease of 0.2 million PLN) and a decrease in payroll 

costs (PLN 0.1m). 

Negative impact on the final amount of the Company's net profit had while the increase in financial 

costs in the amount of PLN 1.0 million, primarily due to the issuance of convertible bonds in 

September 2014. The recognition and, consequently, the cost of interest on these bonds. 

Revenue at the largest item in the income statement of the Company in the amount of PLN 18.0 

million was interest income on loans to Group companies CPD SA. These revenues decreased by PLN 

3.1 million compared to 2013. The decrease was the result of a gradual decrease of the Monetary 

Policy Council in interest rates announced by the NBP. Consequently, the average level of WIBOR in 

2014 was lower than in 2013. This decrease was a negative influence on the final net profit of the 

Company. 

In 2014, the Company has also achieved sales of services in the amount of PLN 0.6 million, which 

was lower by PLN 0.4 million compared to 2013. 100% of the revenue generated in 2014 came from 

domestic sales in respect of services rendered to companies within the Group. The reduction of the 

Company's revenue is a result of cost optimization strategy in subsidiaries. 

The chart below shows the structure of operating income in the years 2014 and 2013. 
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    As at: Change 

  31.12.2014 31.12.2013 2014/2013 

  (PLN ths.) (PLN ths.) (%) 

Total assets 459 134 324 823 41,3% 

Non-current assets, 
including: 

  446 959 318 272 40,4% 

  Property, plant and equipment 6 7 -14,3% 

  Intangible assets, excluding goodwill 7 10 -30,0% 

  Long-term receivables 443 516 315 065 40,8% 

  Bonds 3 430 3 190 7,5% 

  Shares in subsidiaries 0 0 - 

Current assets, 
including: 

  12 175 6 551 85,9% 

  Trade receivables and other receivables 104 196 -46,8% 

  Cash and cash equivalents 12 071 6 355 89,9% 

Total equity and liabilities 459 134 324 823 41,3% 

Equity, including:   401 146 313 398 28,0% 

  Share capital 3 286 3 460 -5,0% 

  Own shares 0 -12 300 -100,0% 

  Reserve capital 987 987 0,0% 

  
Fair value of capital element at inception 
date 

-27 909 0 - 

  Share premium 796 643 796 643 0,0% 

  Retained earnings -371 861 -475 391 -21,8% 

Non-current liabilities   55 649 9 304 498,1% 

Current liabilities   2 338 2 121 10,2% 
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At the end of 2014, the Company's assets were PLN 134.3 million higher than at the end of 2013. 

The increase in the value of assets was mainly due discussed above partial reversal of impairment 

charges on loans to subsidiaries. Long-term receivables from loans granted to subsidiaries increased 

by PLN 128.5 million (41%) in the results of the feasibility of investment projects of these companies 

as a result of the adoption of spatial development plan for the area posiadancyh by these 

companies. 

With respect to assets, the highest share (99%) of the total of these assets is represented by long-

term receivables arising from long-term loans to related parties. 

The value of the Company's assets, compared to 2013, increased by 5.6 million PLN. This increase 

was mainly caused by an increase in cash resulting from the issuance of convertible bonds. The 

purpose of the bond issue was to raise the capital needed to start the Smart City project Ursus by 

subsidiaries and completion of IRIS projetu commercialization of the company's subsidiary Belise 

Investments Sp z oo 

As at December 31, 2014 equity CPD SA amounted to PLN 401.1 million and accounted for 87% of 

total assets. The increase in the value of equity was 28% compared to the end of December of 

2013. 

As at December 31, 2014, the Company had long-term liabilities with a value of PLN 55.6 million. 

Obligations under issued 3-year convertible bonds amounted to 24.1 million. Liabilities due to the 

embedded derivative associated with the issuance of convertible bonds denominated in euros were 

18.8 million PLN. PLN 12.8 million related to liabilities of a subsidiary to Lakia Enterprises Ltd under 

the loan. 

Short-term liabilities in the amount of PLN 2.3 million accounted for less than 1% of total assets of 

the Company. The largest item among these commitments was the provision for tax for previous 

years (2 million PLN). 

The following table shows the share of each category of liabilities in the balance sheet total. 

  31.12.2014   31.12.2013 

        

Liabilities to total assets 12,6%   3,5% 

Non-current liabilities to total assets 12,1%   2,9% 

Borrowings including finance leases 2,8%   2,9% 

Convertible bonds 5,2%   0,0% 

Built-in derivative instrument 4,1%   0,0% 

Current liabilities to total assets 0,5%   0,7% 

Trade and other payables  0,5%   0,7% 

 

Changed compared to the end of 2013. The structure of liabilities. The share of long-term debt in 

total assets increased from 2.9% at the end of December 2013. To 12.1% at the end of December 

2014. This change is mainly due to the emission of 3-year convertible bonds. The share of short-

term debt was small and concerned mainly the provision for taxes for previous years. 
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11. RISK FACTORS AND THREATS 

The Company’s operations are exposed to financial, operational and economic risks. The risk 

management policy adopted by the Company aims at minimizing the effects of adverse events. 

Occurrence of a specific risk, whether alone or in combination with other circumstances, may have a 

significant negative impact on the Company’s business, its financial situation, growth prospects or 

financial performance and it may also have an impact on the evolution of the Company’s share 

prices. 

The risks described below do not represent a complete or exhaustive list and, as such, may not be 

viewed as the only risks to which the Company is exposed. Additional risks that are unknown to the 

Company at present or ones which are currently considered by the Company as irrelevant may also 

have a significant negative impact on the Company’s operations, its financial situation, prospects or 

performance. 

·  RISK RELATED TO THE MACROECONOMIC SITUATION ON THE MARKETS ON 

WHICH THE COMPANY AND THE GROUP OPERATE  

Polish general macroeconomic situation, including factors such as GDP growth, inflation and interest 

rates, the level of investment in the economy and unemployment have a direct impact on the level 

of wealth and purchasing power of the public and the financial situation of companies. As a result of 

these factors also affect the demand for products and services offered by the Company and the 

Group and may have an impact on their financial situation. 

The growth rate of the Polish economy in 2014 was 3.3% and was significantly faster than in 2013, 

when it stood at 1.7%. Government forecasts for 2015 predict Polish GDP growth at 3.4%, while it 

can not be ruled out that GDP growth in the coming years will be lower. In the event of a reduction 

in GDP growth, the demand for products offered by the Company and the Group may fall, which 

may lead to a decline in prices of residential and commercial real estate, and have a negative impact 

on the financial condition of the Company and its Group. 

·  RISK RELATED TO THE PROCESS OF OBTAINING ADMINISTRATIVE 

DECISIONS ,  THE POSSIBILITY OF APPEAL AND THE NON-EXISTENCE OF 

MASTER ZONING PLANS 

The land development business conducted by the Company and its Group is associated with the 

need to obtain numerous administrative decisions enabling them to implement construction projects, 

e.g. decisions on the location of investments, zoning and development decisions (if no master plan 

exists for the area), construction permits, occupancy certificates for newly erected structures, 

environmental decisions required under environmental legislation. The obligation to obtain the 

aforementioned administrative decisions triggers the risk of halting or delaying the completion of 

construction projects in case such decisions are not granted or if the relevant procedures are 

protracted. 

Moreover, the Company cannot rule out the possibility that the decisions which have already been 

reached may be appealed against by parties to administrative proceedings, or that they might be 

repealed. This, in turn, would affect the ability to continue or complete the ongoing construction 

projects and, consequently, the Company’s business operations, its financial position and 

performance. 

Furthermore, there is also the risk of inability to implement construction projects in areas where 

master plans have not been adopted and where a zoning decision or a development decision cannot 

be obtained or is significantly constrained. 
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·  RISK RELATED TO COMPETITION  

While focusing on its development business in the residential and commercial sector, the Company 

faces strong competition from domestic and foreign developers. This may create obstacles for the 

Company in acquiring the right land plots for new investments at attractive prices. The increasing 

competition may also propel the supply of residential and commercial property and, consequently, 

lead to stagnation or decline of selling prices of flats/houses and rents. This kind of situation may 

negatively impact the Company’s performance. 

·  RISK RELATED TO GEOGRAPHICAL CONCENTRATION OF THE COMPANY ’S AND 

GROUP ’S PROJECTS  

As the majority of real property, including the Ursus residential project, is concentrated in Warsaw, 

this fact exposes the Company to a greater risk of changes in the local market and business 

environment in comparison with other land development companies with a more diversified portfolio 

(in geographical terms). 

The Company has a subsidiary in Hungary which owns property located near Alsonemedi in the 

vicinity of Budapest. As the Hungarian market is less stable politically and economically than the 

Polish market, it cannot be excluded that the negative perceptions of the Hungarian economy by 

investors may have a negative impact on the estimated value of the property held by the Group. 

However, considering the size of the project, its potential negative impact on the Group’s 

performance is highly limited. 

·  RISK RELATED TO FAILURE TO ATTAIN THE ADOPTED STRATEGIC GOALS 

The Company cannot guarantee that its strategic goals will be attained and, in particular, it cannot 

guarantee the expected significant expansion of the scale of its business. Successful implementation 

of the strategy depends on many factors beyond the Company’s control, which nevertheless 

determine the situation on the real estate market. The Company endeavours to build its strategy on 

the basis of the current market situation. The Company cannot ensure, however, that its strategy is 

based on a complete and accurate analysis of current and future market trends. Moreover, one 

cannot exclude that the activities undertaken by the Company may turn out to be insufficient or 

missed from the perspective of its strategic goals. An erroneous assessment of market prospects and 

any erroneous decisions may have a significant adverse effect on the financial performance of the 

Company and the Group. 

·  RISK RELATED TO MANAGERIAL STAFF 

The Company’s operations and its further growth largely depend on knowledge, experience and 

qualifications of the managerial staff and key staff members. It is the competence of the managerial 

staff that determines the success of all milestones in implementation of land development projects. 

If key employees leave the Company, it might not be able to hire new, equally experienced and 

qualified experts who would be able to continue the implementation of the Company’s strategy, and 

this might materially and adversely affect the Company’s financial performance. 

·  RISK RELATED TO FINANCING GROWTH WITH BANK LOANS AND OTHER DEBT 

INSTRUMENTS  

The standard practice in land development projects is to use debt financing at a significant level. 

Thus, the Company is exposed, on the one hand, to the risk of increasing interest rates and higher 

debt servicing costs and, on the other hand, the company might not be able to service its debt in an 

extreme situation, in case the demand for the Company’s products falls. Thus, if loan agreements 

providing funds for construction projects are breached, there is a risk that the lender may take over 
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the assets of the Company which are used as collateral for the loans. Likewise, the Company may 

not exclude the risk of more difficult access to debt financing or of material rise in the costs of debt 

due to a change in banks’ lending policies. This may restrict the Company’s opportunities to 

undertake new projects and, therefore, materially affect the financial results it may generated in 

future. 

·  FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK  

CPD Group's debt denominated in foreign currencies amounted to 31 December 2014. Equivalent of 

PLN 137.8 million. Also in the future, the Company and the Group does not rule out further 

borrowing loans denominated in foreign currencies, primarily the euro. In view of the above, the 

Company and the Group is exposed to the risk of depreciation of the zloty against the currencies in 

which they are incurred loans, which could adversely affect the Company's financial position. This 

risk is partly compensated by the fact that the settlement proceeds from the rental and sale of office 

projects carried out in foreign currencies. 

·  LIQUIDITY RISK  

A liquidity risk arises when assets and liabilities do not overlap in terms of their payment deadlines. 

This situation potentially improves profitability but also increases the risk of loss. The Company 

applies procedures aimed at minimizing such losses by maintaining an adequate level of cash and 

other assets that are easy to sell, as well as by adequate access to credit lines. The Company’s 

liquidity levels are controlled on an ongoing basis by the Management Board. 

12. COURT LITIGATIONS, ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDINGS AND 

ARBITRAGE IN CASES EXCEEDING 10% OF THE COMPANY’S 
EQUITY 

Neither CPD S.A. nor any of its subsidiaries is party to court litigation, proceedings before the 

authority competent for arbitration or a public body, where the total value would exceed 10% of the 

equity of CPD S.A. 

13. COMPANY’S  ORGANISATIONAL AND CAPITAL-RELATED 

RELATIONSHIPS 

The organizational and capital relationships of CPD S.A. as well as the structure of the Group are 

presented in point 2. CPD S.A. AS THE PARENT COMPANY IN THE GROUP STRUCTURE of this 

report. 

14. SIGNIFICANT AGREEMENTS 

In FY2014, the Company and other Capital Group companies entered into two new agreements 

being material agreements as defined in the Regulation of the Minister of Finance of 19 February 

2009 on current and periodical information published by the issuers of securities. 

At the date of report publication, the Company and its subsidiaries have been parties to the 

following agreements considered material according to the above-mentioned Regulation: 
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· Credit agreement between Belise Investments sp. z o.o. and Bank Zachodni WBK S.A.. The 

agreement is material because of its value at 31-12-2014 amounting to PLN 70.608 (at the 

average EUR exchange rate published by the National Bank of Poland on 31 December 

2014, amounting to 4.2623 PLN/EUR) which exceeds the value 10% of CPD S.A.'s equity at 

31 December 2014; 

· Credit agreement between Lakia Investments sp. z o.o. and mBank. The agreement is 

material because of its value at 31-12-2014 amounting to PLN 24,273,978.5 (at the average 

EUR exchange rate published by the National Bank of Poland on 31 December 2014, 

amounting to 4.2623 PLN/EUR) which exceeds the value 10% of CPD S.A.'s equity at 31 

December 2014; 

· Credit agreement between Robin Investments sp. z o.o. and mBank. The agreement is 

material because of its value at 31-12-2014 amounting to PLN 18,796,743 (at the average 

EUR exchange rate published by the National Bank of Poland on 31 December 2014, 

amounting to 4.2623 PLN/EUR) which exceeds the value 10% of CPD S.A.'s equity at 31 

December 2014; 

The above agreements are described in item 17: CREDIT AND LOAN AGREEMENTS, SURETIES AND 

GUARANTEES hereof. 

15. SIGNIFICANT DEALS BETWEEN RELATED PARTIES 

During the reporting period, the Company did not conclude any transactions with related parties on 

terms other than the market terms. Transactions with related parties are described in Note 22 to the 

Company’s financial statements Transactions with related parties. 

16. CREDIT AND LOAN AGREEMENTS, WARRANTIES AND 

GUARANTEES 

In FY2014, the liabilities under the following two most important credit agreements of the Group 

were being performed in a timely manner: 

· CRED IT AG REEMENT W ITH BANK ZAC HOD NI WBK  S.A.   

This agreement was signed on 12 August 2011 between Bank Zachodni WBK S.a. and our subsidiary 

Belise Investments Sp. z o.o. as the borrower, with guarantors being: CPD S.A., Lakia Enterprises 

Ltd. with registered office in Nicosia (Cyprus), and East Europe Property Financing A.B. with 

registered office in Stockholm (Sweden), and concerned funding of construction and finishing of Iris 

office building located at Cybernetyki 9 in Warsaw, commissioned in October 2012. Funding under 

this credit agreement included: 

1) Investment Credit up to EUR 20,141,000 granted for financing or re-financing of some 

project costs or costs of finishing the leasable area; 

2) open-end VAT credit up to PLN 2,100,000, granted for financing or partial re-financing of 

VAT due in relation to project delivery. 

In the case of VAT Credit, final repayment shall be made not later than on the date of conversion of 

the building credit into an investment credit. If the building credit is converted to an investment 

credit, final repayment shall not be made later than on 12 August 2019.  

Under the current agreement, the conversion of the construction loan on an investment loan was to 

be repaid on 31 12 2014. Among other things, the terms of a conversion loan and thus change the 

date of final repayment to August 2019., Was to achieve in the credit agreement debt service 
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coverage ratio and an appropriate level of space rental. At the date of this report has been achieved 

the expected debt coverage ratio was not achieved but the degree of rental properties. Due to the 

fact that the most important indicator of ability to repay the loan is debt service ratio, with the 

consent of the bank, the loan can be converted at the current level of 88.5% of rental space. 

Preparations are underway to collect all the documents required to convert the loan and thus change 

the date of the final repayment of the loan in August 2019. At the date of this report has not yet 

signed the necessary agreement, therefore, the bank shall have the theoretical right to terminate 

the contract and demand repayment of the entire debt. In the opinion of the Management Board of 

the Group, based on credit history subsidiaries of CPD S.A., existing cooperation in BZ WBK bank as 

well as real opportunities for the Group to refinance the acquisition of another bank at current rates 

achieved by Belise Investments Sp z oo (88.5% of rental level), the risk that the subsidiaries of CPD 

S.A. will not be able to meet its credit obligations to the bank BZ WBK is very limited. 

During the reporting period did not change guarantees granted in connection with the loan 

agreement. 

·  CRED IT AG REEMENT W ITH MBANK  

 

On 18 June 2014, a credit agreement was signed between Robin Investments sp. z o.o., the Issuer's 

subsidiary, and mBank Hipoteczny S.A. under which Robin Investments Sp. z o.o. was granted a 

credit of EUR 4,450,000 for refinancing of Aquarius office building, among others by a complete and 

irrevocable repayment of this company's debt under credit agreement with HSBC Bank Polska S.A. 

As a collateral for repayment of a mortgage loan, the following mortgages and pledges have been 

established: 

1) contractual joint mortgage up to EUR 8,900,000; 

2) registered pledge on all shares in the Borrower's share capital, with a total nominal value of PLN 

50,000.00 along with the statement of LAKIA ENTERPRISES LIMITED with registered office in 

Nicosia ("Shareholder") of submission to enforcement from the pledged shares, drawn up in line with 

Article 97 of the Banking Law, up to the amount of EUR 4,450,000. 

3) registered pledges (and financial pledges as a transitional collateral until the registered pledges 

are entered into the register of pledges) on the Borrower's receivables from Bank Accounts; 

Other credit collaterals typical for such agreements include: bank transfer to secure receivables 

under the Property and Building insurance agreement, bank transfer or receivables under Lease 

Agreements, blockade and power-of-attorney to use the Borrower's bank accounts, Debt Service 

Reserve equivalent to 3 capital with interest instalments. 

The credit was disbursed and used by the Borrower in the amount of EUR 4,450,000 to refinance the 

existing credit granted to the Shareholder by HSBC. 

Final repayment of the Mortgage Loan will take place not later than on 20 June 2029. The due 

amounts shall be repaid in EUR according to the agreed repayment schedule. For the credit granted, 

the Subsidiary will pay interest at the 6M EURIBOR floating interest rate increased by the Bank's 

profit margin. 

 

·  CRED IT AG REEMENT W ITH MBANK  

 

On 18 June 2014, a credit agreement was signed between our subsidiary Lakia Investments sp. z 

o.o. and mBank Hipoteczny S.A. under which Lakia Investments Sp. z o.o. is to be granted a credit 
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of EUR 5,850,000 for refinancing of Solar office building, among others by a complete and 

irrevocable repayment of this company's debt under credit agreement with HSBC Bank Polska S.A. 

As a collateral for repayment of a mortgage loan, the following mortgages and pledges have been 

established: 

1)    contractual joint mortgage up to EUR 11,700,000 established on: 

2)  registered pledge on all shares in the Borrower's share capital, with a total nominal value of PLN 

50,000.00 along with the statement of LAKIA ENTERPRISES LIMITED with registered office in 

Nicosia ("Shareholder") of submission to enforcement from the pledged shares, drawn up in line 

with Article 97 of the Banking Law, up to the amount of EUR 5,850,000. 

3)  registered pledges (and financial pledges as a transitional collateral until the registered pledges 

are entered into the register of pledges) on the Borrower's receivables from Bank Accounts; 

Other credit collaterals typical for such agreements include: bank transfer to secure receivables 

under the Property and Building insurance agreement, bank transfer or receivables under Lease 

Agreements, blockade and power-of-attorney to use the Borrower's bank accounts, Debt Service 

Reserve equivalent to 3 capital with interest instalments. 

The credit was disbursed and used by the Borrower in the amount of EUR 5,850,000 to refinance the 

existing credit granted to the Shareholder by HSBC. 

Final repayment of the Mortgage Loan will take place not later than on 20 June 2029. The due 

amounts shall be repaid in EUR according to the agreed repayment schedule. For the credit granted, 

the Subsidiary will pay interest at the 6M EURIBOR floating interest rate increased by the Bank's 

profit margin. 

•  INVES TMENT AGR EEMENT  

The agreement was September 10, 2014, by and between: 

CPD SA in Warsaw, Challenge Eighteen limited liability company in Warsaw, 1/95 Gaston 

Investments limited liability limited partnership with its registered office in Warsaw, Lakia Enterprise 

Ltd in Nicosia (Cyprus), 

and 

Unibep SA in Bielsko Podlaski, Unidevelopment SA in Warsaw. 

The Agreement provides for a joint project be completed on the part of the property belonging to 

the Capital Group CPD ie. The company 1/95 Gaston Investments Sp. Z oo limited partnership in 

Warsaw. The property consists of the above plot no 95, no rev. Reg. No. 2-09-09, with an area of 

3.6811 ha and is located at ul. Traktorzystów in Warsaw (Warsaw district - Ursus). 

•  PURC HAS E AGR EEMENT  

30 January 2015. CPD belonging to the group of companies: 

(1) Buffy Holdings No. 1 Limited, based in Nicosia, Cyprus, 

(2) Challenge Eighteen limited liability company with its registered office in Warsaw 

signed with the company 
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I.M.E.S. - INDUSTRIA MECCANICA E stampaggio S.P.A. based in Sumirago, Italy 

a sales agreement for Buffy Holdings No. 1 Limited, 100% of the shares of IMES POLAND Sp. Z oo. 

The Company has acquired the right of perpetual usufruct, consisting of plot No. 98, No. rpm. Reg. 

No. 2-09-09, with an area of 69 457 m2 and located near the street Gierdziejewskiego in Warsaw 

(Warsaw district - Ursus). In accordance with the provisions of the Local Development Plan, the 

property allows you to build about 80 000 m2 of residential and commercial. Purchase of the above 

assets play an important part in the strategy of the Group CPS SA because it is a strategic 

complement to the portfolio of building land with great potential residential- service in the district of 

Ursus. With this transaction, the Company controlled area of over 57 hectares, of which 80% are 

residential areas - service. Through this transaction, the Company has become a major investor in 

one of the most attractive investment areas in Warsaw. 

Pursuant to the Agreement, the Subsidiary Buyer guarantees payment: 

- Full price adjusted in accordance with the conditions set out in the Agreement; 

- Contractual penalties resulting from the events specified in the Agreement; 

- Any payments under the guarantees and false representation of the Buyer under the Contract. 

17. ISSUES OF SECURITIES, BUY-BACK OF TREASURY SHARES FOR 

REDEMPTION 

Increases of the Company’s share capital were recorded in 2014 as a result of share issues under 

series D, E and F. 

·  ISS UE OF SERI ES F  SHAR ES  

Series F shares on 19 February 2014 were floated on the parallel market of Warsaw Stock Exchange 

under resolution no. 178/2014 of the Management Board of Warsaw Stock Exchange of 17 February 

2014.  

·  REDEMP TI ON OF OWN SERI ES B  SHAR ES  

On 1 December 2014, District Court for the capital city of Warsaw in Warsaw registered decrease of 

the Company's share capital by PLN 173,239.40 (say: one hundred seventy three thousand two 

hundred thirty nine zlotys 40/100) as a result of redemption of 1,732,394 (say: one million seven 

hundred thirty two thousand three hundred ninety four) of the Company's own series B shares with 

a nominal per-share value of PLN 0.10 (say: 10/100 zlotys), carrying 1,732,394 votes at the General 

Meeting of the Company's Shareholders. The shares were redeemed under Resolution no. 22 of the 

Annual General Meeting of Shareholders of 29 May 2014 (Roll of Deeds A no. 6337/2014). 

·  ISS UE OF SERI ES A  BONDS  

On 26 September 2014, the Company issued tranche 1 of convertible bonds. The issued bonds are 

series A registered bonds with a nominal value of EUR 50,000.00 each, convertible to series G 

ordinary bearer shares in the Company with a nominal per-share value of PLN 0.10. Total nominal 

value of the issue under Resolution 3 of the Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders of 5 

August 2014 does not exceed EUR 8,000,000.00. As a part of tranche 1, the Company issue 110 

series A bonds with a nominal value of EUR 50,000 (say: fifty thousand euros) each and total 

nominal value of EUR 5,500,000. Bonds will be redeemed by the Company 3 years of the Issue Date, 

that is on 27 September 2017. 



CPD S.A. 
ANNUAL REPORT FOR THE YEAR 2014 

33 

 

Apart from the above-mentioned issues, no other securities were issued by the Company in 2014. 

Until the report publication date, the Company has issued series B bonds. 

·  ISS UE OF SERI ES B  BONDS  

On 13 January 2015, the Company issued a total of 30,000 series B secured bonds. The bonds were 

issued in the manner defined in Article 9.3 of the Bonds Act, i.e. as a private offering.  

The bonds were issued on the following terms: 

· The issuer did not determine the purpose of issue, as defined in the Bonds Act, or the 

project which is to be funded by issue of the Bonds. 

· The issued Bonds are series B bearer bonds with a nominal value of PLN 1,000 each, 

secured and dematerialised. 

· Total nominal value of all Bonds issued does not exceed PLN 30,000,000. 

· Nominal value of each Bond is PLN 1,000. The issue price of one Bond is equivalent to its 

nominal value, that is PLN 1,000. 

· The Bonds will be redeemed by the Company 4 years of the Bonds issue date, i.e. on 13 

January 2019 (hereinafter "Redemption Date") except for cases of earlier redemption of 

Bonds should the Issuer infringe the terms on which the Bonds had been issued or upon the 

Issuer's request. 

· The bonds bear a fixed interest of 9.1% per year. 

If the Issuer fails to redeem Bonds earlier in the case of infringements, at the Bond Holder's or the 

Issuer's request, the Bonds shall be redeemed on the Redemption Date by payment of an amount 

equivalent to nominal value of the Bonds increased by the unpaid and due interest on the Bonds. 

18. DESCRIPTION OF DIFFERENCES IN FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 

FORECASTS 

The Company did not publish financial performance forecasts for 2014. 

19. ASSESSMENT OF FINANCIAL RESOURCES MANAGEMENT 

CPD Group finances its operations primarily with equity. In the financial year 2014 the Group's 

financial resources are used in accordance with the plans, specifications and current needs. Group 

fulfilled its regularly with its obligations to customers, banks and the mandatory duty to the State. 

Liabilities representing 34.9% of the total assets of the Group do not pose a threat to the financial 

condition of the Group. 

Supplementary source of financing for the Group's loans and bonds. At the end of 2014, the total 

value of liabilities from loans and borrowings amounted to PLN 143 million compared to PLN 116.1 

million at the end of 2013. As part of the liabilities from loans and borrowings CPD Group recognizes 

liabilities from finance leases, which is the obligation of the Group with perpetual usufruct of land. At 

the end of 2014. These commitments amounted to PLN 29.3 million, which represented 20.5% of 

total liabilities from loans and borrowings. 

In September 2014, the Group issued convertible bonds. At the end of 2014. Value of these liabilities 

amounted to PLN 24.1 million, and also taking into account the value of the embedded derivative 

(PLN 18.8 million) total liabilities on the balance sheet of the Group amounted to PLN 42.9 million. 

20. CHANGES IN MANAGEMENT PRINCIPLES 

In 2014, continuing the Company's strategy of focusing on the Polish market, and in particular on 

the project in Ursus, further simplifying the structure underwent Group. Continued investment 
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company liquidation procedure Celtic Asset Management Sp. Z oo Reducing the number of 

subsidiaries of CPD SA from 44 at the end of 2011 to 37 at the date of this report, contributed to 

simplify the management of subsidiaries. In addition to changes in the structure of the Group in 

2014, as described in Section 2. CPD SA AS A PARENT GROUP of this report and further 

simplification of organizational procedures, there were no major changes in the management of the 

Company. 

21. REMUNERATION OF MANAGEMENT BOARD MEMBERS AND 

SUPERVISORY BOARD MEMBERS 

·  REMUNERATION OF SUPERVISORY BOARD MEMBERS 

In 2014, the following remuneration amounts for holding an office in the Company’s Supervisory 

Board were disbursed to the members of the Supervisory Board of CPD S.A.: 

Name Function Currency PLN Period Comments 

Marzena Bielecka President PLN 60 000 01.2014 - 12.2014 - 

Wiesław Oleś Vice President PLN 44 640 01.2014 - 12.2014 - 

Andrew Pegge Secretary PLN 44 640 01.2014 - 12.2014 - 

Mirosław Gronicki Member PLN 44 600 01.2014 - 12.2014 - 

Wiesław Rozłucki Member PLN 44 600 01.2014 - 12.2014 - 

TOTAL 

 

PLN 238 560 

   

·  REMUNERATION OF MANAGEMENT BOARD MEMBERS 

In 2014 CPD S.A. Management Board members received cash remuneration for the function on the 

appointment basis in the Management Board of the Company as well as the remuneration for 

services provided to companies being part of the CPD Group.  

Name Function 

Wynagrodzenie 
z tytuły 

pełnienia 
funkcji w 

Zarządzie 
Spółki (PLN) 

Wynagrodzenie 

z tytuły 
pełnienia 

innych funkcji 
w Grupie (PLN) 

TOTAL 
(PLN) 

Period Comments 

Elżbieta Wiczkowska President 60 000 1 584 125 1 647 125 01.2014 - 12.2014   

Iwona Makarewicz Member 60 000 486 461 546 461 01.2014 - 12.2014   

Colin Kingsnorth Member 60 000 - 60 000 01.2014 - 12.2014   

Piotr Turchoński Member 60 000 1 935 000 1 995 000 01.2014 - 12.2014 
Rsignation for 
31.12.2014 

Total 

 

240 000 4 005 586 4 248 586 
  

 

22. AGREEMENTS WITH MANAGING STAFF –  INDEMNITIES 

CPD S.A. Management Board members are not employed under employment agreements in the 

Company. The Company did not conclude such agreements with members of the Management 

Board that provide for compensation in the event of their resignation or dismissal from their function 

without valid reason or if the dismissal results from the merger of the Company following an 

acquisition. 
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23. COMPANY SHARES HELD BY MANAGING AND SUPERVISORY STAFF  

The following table presents the number of shares of the Company owned by the members of the 

Management Board holding their function at the day of the report publication, according to the 

information held by the Company: 

Name Function No. of shares 
Nominal value of 

shares (PLN) 
As % of total 
no. of shares 

As % of total no. of 
votes 

Elżbieta Wiczkowska President 42 498 4250 0,13% 0,13% 

Iwona Makarewicz Member 4 734 473 0,01% 0,01% 

TOTAL   47 232 4 723 0,14% 0,14% 

The Company has no information that other members of the Management Board or the Supervisory 

Board are in possession of the Company’s shares. 

24. AGREEMENTS CHANGING THE OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE  

At the date of this report, the Company has not received other complaints concerning the changes in 

the proportion of shares held by shareholders holding not yet at least 5.0% of the shares of the 

Company. 

25. CONTROL SCHEME FOR EMPLOYEE STOCK PROGRAMMES 

During the reporting period the Company did not introduce any employee stock programmes. 

26. AGREEMENT WITH THE COMPANY’S AUDITOR  

The financial statements of CPD SA and the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the 

years 2013 and 2014 were reviewed and audited by an auditing firm PricewaterhouseCoopers. with 

o.o with its registered office in Warsaw. 

The total remuneration of the auditor for 2014 in accordance with the signed contracts amounted to 

PLN 200,000 net, of which: 

· PLN 87,000 was the reward for a review of the financial statements of Celtic Property 

Developments SA and the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the period from 

1 January 2014. June 30, 2014. (agreement dated 4 August 2014.) 

· PLN 113,000 was the fee for the audit of the financial statements of Celtic Property 

Developments SA and the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the period from 

1 January 2014 to 31 December 2014. (agreement dated 3 February 2015.). 

The total remuneration of the auditor for the year ended 31 December 2013. Amounted to PLN 

236,000, of which: 

· PLN 102,000 was the reward for a review of the financial statements of Celtic Property 

Developments SA and the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the period from 

1 January 2013. June 30, 2013. (agreement of 25 July 2013.) 

· PLN 134,000 was the fee for the audit of the financial statements of Celtic Property 

Developments SA and the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the period from 

1 January 2013 to 31 December 2013. (agreement dated 9 January 2014.). 
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27. STRUCTURE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES – BY LIQUIDITY 

The Company’s assets structure as of 31 December 2014 and changes versus the status at the end 

of 2013: 

  As at:     Change 

  31.12.2014 31.12.2013 
% in total 

 assets 

% in total 

 assets 
2014/2013 

  (PLN ths.) (PLN ths.) 2014 2013 (%) 

Property, plant and equipment 6 7 0,001% 0,002% -14,3% 

Intangible assets, excluding 

goodwill 
7 10 0,002% 0,003% -30,0% 

Long term receivables 443 516 315 065 96,6% 97,0% 40,8% 

Bonds 3 430 3 190 0,7% 1,0% 7,5% 

Investments in subsidiaries 0 0 - - - 

Non-current assets 446 959 318 272 97,3% 98,0% 40,4% 

Trade and other receivables 104 196 0,02% 0,1% -46,9% 

Cash and cash equivalents 12 071 6 355 2,6% 2,0% 89,9% 

Current assets 12 175 6 551 2,7% 2,0% 85,8% 

TOTAL ASSETS 459 134 324 823 100,0% 100,0% 41,3% 

 

The Company’s liabilities structure as of 31 December 2014 and changes versus the status at the 

end of 2013: 

  As at:     Change 

  31.12.2014 31.12.2013 
% in total 

 assets 

% in total 

 assets 
2014/2013 

  (PLN ths.) (PLN ths.) 2014 2013 (%) 

Share capital 3 286 3 460 0,7% 1,1% -5,0% 

Own shares 0 -12 300 - -3,8% -100,0% 

Reserve capital 987 987 0,2% 0,3% 0,0% 

Fair value of capital element at inception 

date 
-27 909 0 -6,1% - - 

Share premium 796 643 796 643 173,5% 245,3% 0,0% 

Retained earnings/(accumulated losses) -371 861 -475 391 -81,0% -146,4% -21,8% 

Equity 401 146 313 398 87,4% 96,5% 28,0% 

Convertible bonds 24 065 0 5,2% - - 

Embedded derivative 18 815 0 4,1% - - 

Borrowings, including finance leases 12 769 9 304 2,8% 2,9% 37,2% 

Non-current liabilities 55 649 9 304 12,1% 2,9% 498,1% 

Trade and other payables 2 338 2 121 0,5% 0,7% 10,2% 

Current liabilities 2 338 2 121 0,5% 0,7% 10,2% 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 459 134 324 823 100,0% 100,0% 41,3% 
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V.  MANAGEMENT BOARD STATEMENT 

The Management Board of CPD S.A. (‘the Company’) hereby confirms that according to its best 

knowledge the Company’s financial statements for the accounting year ended 31 December 2014 

and all comparative data have been drawn up in accordance with the applicable accounting 

principles and give a true, fair and clear view of the Company’s assets and financial situation and its 

financial results, and that the Management Board report provides a true picture of the Company’s 

growth and achievements as well as the Company’s situation, including threats and risks. 

The Management Board of CPD S.A. hereby confirms that the entity authorised to audit the annual 

financial statements which performs the reviewed of the annual financial statements was selected in 

compliance with the law, and that the entity and individual auditors who carry out the audit do meet 

the legal requirements to issue an unbiased and independent opinion on the annual financial 

statements under review, in accordance with applicable regulations and professional standards. In 

the years 2013 and 2014, the financial statements of CPD S.A. and of the Group were reviewed and 

audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers Sp. z o.o., an audit firm based in Warsaw. 

 

 

 

 

 

ELŻBIETA WICZK OWSKA  
PRESI DENT OF THE MANAG EMENT 

BOARD  

 COLI N K ING S NORTH  
MEMB ER OF THE MANAG EMENT BOA RD  

 

 

 

 

 

IW ONA MAKAR EW ICZ  
MEMB ER OF THE MANAG EMENT 

BOARD  

   

 

  



CPD S.A. 
ANNUAL REPORT FOR THE YEAR 2014 

39 

 

VI.  AUDITOR’S OPINION  

VII.  AUDITOR’S REPORT ON THE AUDIT ON THE FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR FROM 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 

2014 
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Independent Registered Auditor’s Opinion  
 
To the General Shareholders’ Meeting and the Supervisory Board of  
CPD S.A. 
 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of CPD S.A. (hereinafter called “the 
Company”), Cybernetyki 7B Street, Warsaw, which comprise the statement of financial 
position as at 31 December 2014, showing total assets and total equity and liabilities of 
PLN 459.134 thousand, the statement of comprehensive income for the period from 1 January 
to 31 December 2014, showing a total comprehensive profit of PLN115.656 thousand, the 
statement of changes in equity, the statement of cash flows for the financial year and 
additional information on adopted accounting policies and other explanatory notes. 
 
The Company’s Management Board is responsible for preparing the financial statements and 
Directors’ Report in accordance with the applicable regulations, and for the correctness of the 
accounting records. Members of the Management Board and Members of the Supervisory 
Board of the Company are obliged to ensure that the financial statements and the Director’s 
Report comply with the requirements of the Accounting Act of 29 September 1994 (“the 
Accounting Act” – Journal of Laws of 2013, item 330 as amended). 
 
Our responsibility was to perform an audit of the accompanying financial statements and to 
express an opinion on whether the financial statements comply in all material respects with 
the applicable accounting policies and whether they present, in all material respects, a true 
and clear view of the Company’s financial position and its financial results, and whether the 
accounting records constituting the basis for their preparation are properly maintained. 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with: 
 
a. the provisions of Chapter 7 of the Accounting Act; 
 
b. national standards of auditing issued by the National Council of Registered Auditors. 
 
Our audit was planned and performed to obtain reasonable assurance that the financial 
statements were free of material misstatements and omissions. The audit included examining, 
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 
The audit also included assessing the  accounting policies applied by the Company and 
significant estimates made in the preparation of the financial statements, as well as overall 
assesment of their presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our 
opinion.   
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Independent Registered Auditor’s Opinion 
 
To the General Shareholders’ Meeting and the Supervisory Board of  
CPD S.A. (cont.) 
 
 
In our opinion, and in all material respects, the accompanying financial statements: 
 
a. give a fair and clear view of the Company’s financial position as at 31 December 2014 

and of the financial results for the year from 1 January to 31 December 2014, in 
accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by 
the European Union; 

 
b. comply in terms of form and content with the applicable laws and the Company’s 

Memorandum of Association;  
 
c. have been prepared on the basis of properly maintained books of account, in accordance 

with the applicable accounting policies. 
 
 
The information contained in the Directors’ Report for the year from 1 January to  
31 December 2014 has been presented in accordance with the provisions of the Decree of the 
Minister of Finance dated 19 February 2009 concerning the publication of current and 
periodic information by issuers of securities and the conditions of acceptance as equal 
information required by the law of other state, which is not a member state (“the Decree” – 
Journal of Laws of 2014, item 133) and is consistent with the information presented in the 
audited financial statements. 
 
Person conducting the audit on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers Sp. z o.o. , Registered Audit 
Company No. 144: 
 
 
Piotr Wyszogrodzki  
  
Key Registered Auditor  
No. 90091  
  
  
Warsaw, 19 March 2015 
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I. General information about the Company 
 
a. CPD S.A. (“the Company”) has its seat in Warsaw, Cybernetyki 7B Street. 
 
b. The Company was formed on the basis of a Notarial Deed drawn up on 23 February 

2007  by notarial assessor Radosław Chorabik at the Notary Public’s Office of Dorota 
Mika in Cracow and registered with Rep. A No. 863/2007. On 23 March 2007, the 
Company was entered in the Register of Businesses maintained by the District Court in 
Cracow, XI Business Department of the National Court Register, with the reference 
number KRS 0000277147.On 2 September 2010 the Extraordinary General 
Shareholders’ Meeting adopted a resolution changing the Parent Company name from 
Poen S.A. to Celtic Property Developments S.A. On 29 May 2014 the Extraordinary 
General Shareholders’ Meeting adopted a resolution changing the Parent Company 
name from Celtic Property Developments S.A. to CPD S.A. The change of Company’s 
name was registered in the National Court Register on 17 September 2014 r. 

  
c. The Company was assigned a tax identification number (NIP) 677-22-86-258 for the 

purpose of making tax settlements and a REGON number 120423087 for statistical 
purposes. 

 
d. As at 31 December 2014 the Company’s registered share capital amounted to PLN 

3.286.320,30 and consisted of 32.863.203 shares, with a nominal value of PLN 0;10 
each. Total equity as at that date amounted to PLN 401.146 thousand. 

 
e. As at 31 December 2014, the Company’s shareholders were:  
 

Shareholder’s name Number of 
shares held 

 Par value of 
shares held 
(PLN) 

 Type of 
shares held 
(ordinary 
/preference) 

 Votes (%) 

Cooperatieve Laxey 
Worldwide W.A. 

 
10.082.930  1.008.293,0  ordinary  30,68 

Furseka Trading and 
Investments Ltd. 

 
5.137.222  513.722,2  ordinary  15,63 

The Value Catalyst Fund plc  3.975.449  397.544,9  ordinary  12,10 

QVT Fund LP  3.701.131  370.113,1  ordinary  11,26 

LP Value Ltd  2.005.763  200.576,3  ordinary  6,10 

LP Alternative Fund LP  2.003.981  200.398,1  ordinary  6,10 

Shareholders with less than 
5% of shares 

 
5.956.727  595.672,7  ordinary  18,13 

  32.863.203  3.286.320,3    100,00 

 
 

On 5 August 2014, Company’s share capital was conditionally increased by PLN 979.136 
pursuant to the resolution of Extraordinary General Shareholders’ Meeting. Conditional 
increase of share capital  was performed  to allow the holders of convertible bonds  to convert 
them into shares.  
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f. During the year the Company’s operations comprised:  
 

· activities of financial holdings,  

· activities related to the real estate market services, 

· central business activitiy. 
 

g. During the year the Management Board of the Company comprised: 
 

· Elżbieta Donata Wiczkowska  Chairman  

· Iwona Ewa Makarewicz   Board Member 

· Colin William Kingsnorth Board Member 

· Piotr Sylwester Turchoński Board Member to31 December 2014 
 
h. The Company has the following related entities: 
 

Cooperatieve Laxey Worldwide W.A. - significant investor of the highest level 
 
and companies belonging to the Company’s parent’s group CPD S.A. 

 
i. The Company is an issuer of securities admitted for trading on the Warsaw Stock 

Exchange. In accordance with the choice of selecting accounting policies permitted by 
the Accounting Act, the Company has decided to prepare its financial statements in 
accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union as of 2009. 
 
The decision to prepare the Company’s financial statements in accordance with these 
standards was made by the General Shareholders’ Meeting in their Resolution No. 3 
passed on 22 December 2009.  

 
j.  As the parent company of the Group, the Company has also prepared consolidated 

financial statements according to IFRS as adopted by the European Union as at 19 
March 2015. To better understand the Company’s financial position and its results of 
operations as the Parent Company, the financial statements should be read in 
conjunction with the consolidated financial statements. 

 



CPD S.A.  
Registered auditor’s report on the audit of the financial statements  
for the year from 1 January to 31 December 2014 

 
Translation note: 
This version of our report is a translation from the original, which was prepared in Polish language.  All 
possible care has been taken to ensure that the translation is an accurate representation of the original. 
However, in all matters of interpretation of information, views or opinions, the original language version of our 
report takes precedence over this translation. 

4 
 

 

 
II. Information about the audit 

 

a. The audit of the financial statements for the year from 1 January to 31 December 2014 
was conducted by PricewaterhouseCoopers Sp. z o.o. with its seat in Warsaw, Al. Armii 
Ludowej 14, registered audit company no. 144 . The audit was conducted on behalf of 
the registered audit company under the supervision of the key registered auditor Piotr 
Wyszogrodzki (no. 90091). 

 
b. PricewaterhouseCoopers Sp. z o.o. was appointed registered auditor to the Company by 

Resolution No. 2/VII/2014 of the Supervisory Board dated 2 July 2014 in accordance 
with paragraph 11.8. of the Company’s Memorandum of Association. 

 
c. PricewaterhouseCoopers Sp. z o.o. and the key registered auditor conducting the audit 

are independent of the audited entity within the meaning of art. 56, clauses 2-4 of the 
Act dated 7 May 2009 on registered auditors and their self-government, registered 
audit companies and on public supervision (Journal of Laws No. 77, item 649, as 
amended). 

 
d. The audit was conducted in accordance with an agreement dated 3 February 2015, in 

the period from 16 February to 19 March 2015 
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III. The Company’s results, financial position and significant items of 

financial statements  
 
BALANCE SHEET as at 31 December 2014 (selected lines) 
 
      Change  Structure 

 

 31.12.2014 

PLN ‘000 

 31.12.2013 

PLN ‘000 

  

PLN ‘000 

  

(%) 

 31.12.2014 

(%) 

 31.12.2013 

(%) 

ASSETS             

Non-current assets  446.959  318.272   128.687   40   97,4   98,0  

Current assets  12.175  6.551   5.624   86   2,6   2,0  

Total assets  459.134  324.823   134.311   41   100,0   100,0  

             

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY             

Equity  401.146  313.398   87.748  28  87,4    96,5  

Liabilities and provisions for 
liabilities  57.987      11.425   46.561   408   12,6   3,5  

Total liabilities and equity   459.134  324.823   134.311  41   100,0   100,0  

 
 
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
for the year from 1 January to 31 December 2014 (selected lines) 
 

      Change  Structure 

 

 2014 

 PLN ‘000 

 2013 

PLN ‘000 

  

PLN ‘000 

  

(%) 

 2014 

(%) 

 2013 

(%) 

             

 
Sales  621   999   (378)  (38)  0,5  (2,1) 

Administrative expenses  (2.195)   (2.647)   452   (17)  (1,9)   5,5  

Marketing expenses  (155)  (152)  (3)  2   (0,1)   0,3  

Result from selling 
subsidiaries  9   -   9   -   -  -  

Impairment/Reversal of 
impairment of investments 
in subsidiaries  

90.966  (67.590)  158.556   235  78,7   140,0  

Financial income from 
interest on loans   18.047   21.144   (3.097)  (15)  15,6  (43,8) 

Other operating income   1   61   (60)  (98)  -   (0,1) 

Other operating cost  
 

( 133) 
  (1.495)   (4.094)  274   (0,1)   3,1  

Gross gain /(loss)  107.161  (49.680)  156.841   (316)  92,7  102,9  

Net loss  115.656  (48.267)  164.249  (340)  100,0   100,0  

Total comprehensive 
income for the year  115.656  (48.267)  164.249   (340)  100,0   100,0  
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Selected ratios characterising the Company’s financial position and results  
 
The following ratios characterise the Company’s operating activities, financial results during 
the year and its financial position as at the balance sheet date compared with previous years: 
 

 2014  2013     2012 

Profitability ratios      

- return on capital employed 32%  (14)%  (38)% 

Liability ratios       

- gearing 13%  4%  3% 

      

 31.12.2014  31.12.2013  31.12.2012 

Liquidity ratios      

- current and quick ratio 5,2  3,1  3,4 

 

  

The above ratios have been calculated on the basis of the financial statements. 
 
It was not the purpose of the audit to present the Company in the context of the results of 
operations and ratios achieved. A detailed interpretation of the ratios requires an in-depth 
analysis of the Company’s operations and its circumstances.  
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The financial statements do not take into account the effects of inflation.  The consumer price 
index (on a December to December basis) amounted to -1% in the audited year (inflation of 
0,7% in 2013). 
 
The following comments are based on information obtained during the audit of the financial 
statements. 
 

· At the end of the financial year, the Company’s total assets amounted to PLN 459.134 
thousand.  During the year total assets increased by an PLN 134.311 thousand (i.e. by 
41%).  This increase was financed mainly by net profit in the amount of PLN 115.656 PLN, 
increase of issued bonds with embedded derivative by PLN 42.880 thousand, and 
recognition of fair value of embeded component on inception date  to equity in amount of 
PLN 27.909 thousand.  
 

· Liability ratio has changed. The gearing ratio increased from 4% at the end of the 
previous year to 13% at the end of the current year. The increase was mainly due to bond 
issue. Liabilities from the bonds (host liability increased by fair value of embedded 
element) at the end of the current year amounted to PLN 42.880 thousand. 
 

· In the financial year the Company incurred net profit mainly due to reversal of write-off  
for loans granted to subsidiaries. The result on investments in subsidiaries amounted in 
the current year to PLN 90.966 thousand. The main reason of reversing write-off was an 
increase of net assets of subsidiaries resulting from increase in value of owned real estate.  

 

· The administrative expenses  were the largest item of operating expenses and amounted 
to PLN 2.195 thousand. The administrative expenses have decreased by PLN 452 
thousand, i.e. by 17,1% compared with the previous year, mainly due to lower costs of 
consultancy services and office maintanance. 

 

· Interest income on loans in 2014 amounted to PLN 18.047 thousand and was related to 
loans granted to related entities. 

 

· Financial income in 2014 amounted to PLN 9.774 thousand and comprised mainly 
financial income from valuation of embedded derivative in the amount of 9.094 PLN  

 

· The Company’s liquidity has changed.  Both current and quick ratios, which amounted to 
5,2 (2013: 3,1) improved mainly due to issuance of bonds to shareholders. 

 

The financial statements have been prepared on the assumption that the Company will 
continue in operation as a going concern.  
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IV. The independent registered auditor’s statement
 
a. The Management Board of the Company provided all the information, explanations, 

and representations requested in the course of the audit and provided a representation 
letter confirming the completeness of the data included in the accounting records and 
the disclosure of all contingent liabilities and post balance-sheet events which occurred 
up to the date on which that letter was signed. 

 
b. The scope of the audit was not limited.  
 
c. The Company has up-to-date documentation of its accounting policies, approved by the 

Management Board. The Company’s accounting policies were tailored to its needs and 
ensured the recognition of all events having a material effect on the assessment of its 
financial position and results, taking into consideration the prudence principle. There 
were no changes to the accounting policies compared with the previous year. 

 
d. The closing balances as at the end of the previous year  were correctly brought forward 

as the opening balances of the current financial year in all material respects.  
 
e. The stocktaking of assets and liabilities were carried out and reconciled in accordance 

with the Accounting Act, and the results were included in the accounting records for the 
audited year. 

 

f. The financial statements of the Company for the year from 1 January to 31 December 
2013 were approved by Resolution No. 4 passed by the General Shareholders’ Meeting 
on 29 May 2014 and filed with the National Court Register in Warsaw on 10 June 2014.  

 

g. In accordance with the Resolution No. 5 of the General Shareholders’ Meeting of 29 
May 2014,  
the net loss for the prior year of PLN 48.267 thousand will be covered with future 
profits. 

 

h. The financial statements for the previous financial year were audited by 
PricewaterhouseCoopers Sp. z o.o.  The registered auditor issued an unqualified 
opinion with emphasis of matter. 

 

i. We have assessed the operation of the accounting system. Our assessment covered in 
particular: 
- the accuracy of the documentation relating to business transactions; 
- the fairness, accuracy and verifiability of the books of account, including 

computerised books of account; 
- the methods used for controlling access to data and the computerised data 

processing system; 
- the safeguarding of the accounting documentation, books of account, and financial 

statements. 
 

This assessment, together with our verification of individual items of the financial 
statements, provides the basis for expressing an overall  and comprehensive opinion on 
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these financial statements. The audit was not intended to provide a comprehensive 
opinion on the operations of the said system. 

j. The notes to the financial statements present all significant information required by 
IFRS as adopted by the European Union.  
 

k. The information in the Directors’ Report for the year ended 31 December 2014 has been 
prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Decree of the Minister of Finance 
dated 19 February 2009 concerning the publication of current and periodic information 
by issuers of securities and the conditions of acceptance as equal information required 
by the law of other state, which is not a member state (Journal of Laws of 2014, item 
133) and is consistent with that presented in the financial statements. 
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V. Final information 
 
This report has been prepared in connection with our audit of the financial statements of 
CPD S.A., Cybernetyki 7B Street, Warsaw. The financial statements were signed by the 
Company’s Management Board on 19 March 2015.  
 
This report should be read in conjunction with the Independent Registered Auditor’s 
unqualified Opinion to the General Shareholders’ Meeting and the Supervisory Board of 
CPD S.A. dated 19 March 2015, concerning the said financial statements. The opinion on the 
financial statements expresses a general conclusion drawn from the audit and involves 
assessing the materiality of individual audit findings rather than being a sum of all the 
evaluations of individual financial statement components. This assessment takes account of 
the impact of the facts noted on the truth and fairness of the financial statements as a whole. 
 
 
 
Person conducting the audit on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers Sp. z o.o., Registered Audit 
Company No. 144: 
 
 
 
 
 
Piotr Wyszogrodzki  
  
Key Registered Auditor  
No. 90091  
  
 
Warsaw, 19 March 2015 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Sp. z o.o. is entered into the National Court Register (KRS) maintained by the District Court in Warsaw, with the reference number (KRS) 0000044655, 

and tax indentification number (NIP) 526-021-02-28. Share capital amounts to PLN 10,363,900. Headquarters in Warsaw, Al. Armii Ludowej 14.  
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